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NO UNDERTAKINGS ENTERED DURING THIS HEARING

Monday, January 16, 2006

‑‑‑ Upon commencing at 9:30 a.m.


MR. KAISER:  Please be seated.  The Board is sitting today in continuation of the proceedings relating to the application filed by the Toronto Hydro‑Electric System Ltd. on August 2nd, with respect to its application for orders under section 78 of the Energy Board Act for rates for the distribution of electricity, which rates are to be effective on May 1st, 2006.


May I have the appearances, please?


APPEARANCES:   


MR. MILLAR:  Michael Millar for Board Staff.


MR. KAISER:  Mr. Millar.


MR. WARREN:  Robert Warren for the Consumers Council of Canada.


MR. KAISER:  Mr. Warren.


MR. RODGER:  Good morning, Mr. Chairman.  Mark Rodger, counsel to Toronto Hydro-Electric System Ltd.  With me is Mr. Tim Turner and Mr. Rick Zebrowski, Toronto Hydro.


MR. KAISER:  Thank you.


MR. SIDLOFSKY:  Good morning, sir.  James Sidlofsky, Borden, Ladner, Gervais, counsel to Toronto Hydro.


MR. KAISER:   Thank you.  


MR. DINGWALL:  Good morning.  Brian Dingwall on behalf of Canadian Manufacturers & Exporters.


MR. KAISER:  Mr. Dingwall.


MR. SHEPHERD:   Good morning, Chairman.  Jay Shepherd on behalf of Schools Energy Coalition.  With me is Darryl Seal.


MR. KAISER:   Thank you, Mr. Shepherd.  


MR. KAISER:  Thank you, Mr. Shepherd. 


MR. FARRELL:  Good morning, Mr. Chairman.  Jerry Farrell on behalf of Hydro Ottawa.


MR. KAISER:  Mr. Farrell.


MR. ENGELBERG:  Good morning, Mr. Chairman.  Michael Engelberg for Hydro One Networks Inc.


MR. KAISER:   Thank you.             


MR. DeVELLIS:  Good morning.  John DeVellis for the Vulnerable Energy Consumers Coalition.


MR. KAISER:  Thank you.  Anyone else?  Mr. Millar, the Board has been served with a motion?


MR. MILLAR:  Yes, that's right, Mr. Chair.  And, as you are aware there was a letter of direction, I guess it was, that went out from the Panel directing that if cross‑examination on the affidavit could not be completed before today, then it would be held today, and since I see Mr. Zebrowski here, I assume that we are going to conduct the cross‑examination this morning.


Board Staff does not have any questions for Mr. Zebrowski, but I'm assuming Mr. Warren is going to be leading or maybe I'm wrong.


MR. KAISER:  Before we proceed with Mr. Warren, do we need to swear the witness?


MR. MILLAR:  I think we do, Mr. Chair.


MR. KAISER:  All right.


MR. ENGELBERG:  Mr. Chairman, on behalf of Hydro One Networks, I would like a preliminary matter at this time.


MR. KAISER:  Yes, please proceed.


PRELIMINARY MATTERS:


MR. ENGELBERG:  As you may or may not know, Mr. Chairman, Hydro One Networks is in the position that it also relied on the handbook concerning the 9 percent maximum return on equity.  That matter of 9 percent return on equity is on the issues list in the rate application of Hydro One that is going on at the present time before another Panel of the Board.  And Hydro One takes no position on all of the matters raised by the motion today, other than on the matter of return on equity of 9 percent and ability to rely on the handbook, which has been raised by Toronto Hydro in its materials.


However, since that matter is an issue in the Hydro One hearing and in fact it has already begun to be discussed and testified on in the Hydro One hearing, Hydro One's interest here today is to ask the Board not to make an order in this application that could affect or bind any way the matter of return on equity in the Hydro One hearing.  


I've discussed that with Mr. Rodger and mentioned to him that I would be making this ‑‑ these opening remarks today, and if the Board agrees that it will not make an order today or in the future in this hearing that could bind Hydro One on the issue of return on equity, I would simply not take a position on the remainder of this motion.


MR. KAISER:  I understand your position.  Mr. Farrell, does Ottawa have a position on this?


MR. FARRELL:  No.  Seeing as how Hydro Ottawa's panel is the panel in this case, we will just either advance a position in the argument of the motion or not, Mr. Chair.


I might add, Mr. Chairman, that if the Board does want to make an order on this Toronto Hydro application that could bind or affect Hydro One in its rate application hearing, we would ask for ask for an adjournment with respect to our submissions so that we could perhaps file written materials, affidavit and so forth, in this hearing in addition to having done so in our hearing.


MR. KAISER:  No, I understand, and I'm going to ask Mr. Millar for his comments, but my understanding, subject to discussing this with my fellow Panel members, is that we are here to hear Mr. Rodger's motion.  And the relief that he's requesting doesn't pertain to your client.  And any comments, Mr. Millar?


 MR. MILLAR:  Well, Mr. Chair, I think it's difficult.  I guess it's a question of how we frame the question, because the issue before us today is the extent to which the rate handbook -- I guess it applies to forward test year filers, specifically Toronto Hydro.  And let's assume that, for example, the Board were to find that the rate handbook applies to forward test year filers.  That's a possible finding of this Panel, and if that were the case, that I presume would have some impact on Hydro One, unless we're framing the issue very narrowly to ask if the rate handbook applies only to Toronto Hydro.  If that's the case, then I think ‑‑


MR. KAISER:  But isn't it the case that in the Hydro One case, the parties have agreed that this is an issue; is that correct?


MR. MILLAR:  That's correct, Mr. Chairman, so we would ask the Board ‑‑


MR. KAISER:  There's nothing in the rate handbook that would not permit parties to agree what is the issue in rate case, is there?  


MR. MILLAR:  Well, I'm not certain about that.  For historic test year filers, as you know, the ROE level is given at 9 percent and I don't think it's expected that anyone is going to challenge that for historic test years.  So I'm not sure if ‑‑ I'm not sure if that answers your question, Mr. Chair.


I guess it's a question if you are looking at making a blanket finding that the rate handbook applies, for example, to all forward test year filers.  Then I guess there could be some impact on Hydro One.


MR. KAISER:   All right.  Any other parties have any submissions on this point?  Give us a moment, if you would.


MR. FARRELL:  Mr. Chairman, I would to add one thing.  I would ask the Board to deal with that issue in a way that has been suggested by Mr. Millar as one of the possibilities; namely, to find that the matter of the handbook on return on equity be dealt with as applies to Toronto Hydro and for the Board, in this application, not to make a finding that it applies to a whole category of people, such as forward test year filers, which I would submit is outside the ambit of the application, in any event.


MR. KAISER:  I would have thought so, but give us a moment to consider your submissions.


MR. FARRELL:  Thank you, Mr. Chairman.


[The Panel confers]


MR. KAISER:  Mr. Engelberg, the Board is here to hear the motion by Toronto Hydro as it's currently styled and to consider the release question in that notice of motion.  As such, any ruling that we intend to make with respect to the motion will be restricted to Toronto.


MR. ENGELBERG:  Thank you very much, Mr. Chairman.


MR. KAISER:  Mr. Millar, how do you want to proceed?


MR. MILLAR:  Well, Mr. Chair, I think we are ready to commence the cross‑examination of Mr. Zebrowski.  I suppose he should be sworn, and then I understand Mr. Warren will be beginning the cross‑examination.


MR. KAISER:  All right.  Can we swear the witness, please?


TORONTO HYDRO – PANEL 1:

Richard Zebrowski; Sworn.


CROSS-EXAMINATION BY MR. WARREN:

MR. WARREN:  Mr. Zebrowski, I suppose I should go through the formalities of asking you to identify the affidavit sworn January 10th, 2006 and filed with the motion record.  Is that your affidavit, Mr. Zebrowski?


MR. ZEBROWSKI:  Yes, it is.


MR. WARREN:  Mr. Zebrowski, my first series of questions deal with the issue of the natural of the relief that you are seeking in this case.  If you wouldn't mind, sir, turning up your motion record and, in particular, the notice of motion, and I'm looking at the first page of the notice of motion and numbered paragraph 1.  Do you have that?


MR. ZEBROWSKI:  Yes. 


MR. WARREN:   It appears to be a request for determination by the Board whether or not the handbook, the filing requirements guidelines rate-making principals apply to Toronto Hydro's application.  I wanted, if you can, to drill down through the verb to apply to see what that really means.  Would I be right in my understanding, Mr. Zebrowski, that the relief that you want from this Board -- 


MR. KAISER:   Just trying to get some light.  


MR. WARREN:   That's what I was trying to provide, sir but you are better off -- you are quicker doing it.  


MR. KAISER:   All right.  Probably put those new light bulbs, I say, in there.  Sorry Mr. Warren, please proceed.  


MR. WARREN:   Am I right in my understanding, 

Mr. Zebrowski, that the relief you are seeking from this Panel is a determination that the return on equity for Toronto Hydro will be 9 percent; is that correct?   


MR. ZEBROWSKI:  No, we are in fact seeking clarification that the entire handbook does apply to our 

application, that we can rely on that handbook and 

everything contained within that handbook, and ROE is only one element of the handbook. 


MR. WARREN:   Fair enough.  Let's ask about ROE.  

Are you seeking a determination from the Board that the return on equity level be 9 percent?


MR. ZEBROWSKI:  If the Board determines the handbook does apply in its entirety to Ontario Hydro, then that would be the case, yes.


MR. WARREN:   You understand, sir, that at the moment, return on equity or the level of return on equity is a 

contested issue in the case. It is on your issues list; you understand that? 


MR. ZEBROSKI:  Yes I do. 


MR. WARREN:   Would I be right in concluding, sir, that if the Board were to determine that the handbook applied and that the return on equity is 9 percent, that that would no longer be a contested issue in this case; is that right sir?   


MR. ZEBROWSKI:  If the Board gave us clarity the entire handbook applied in the ROE, stood on the issues 

list, and that would give us clarity, of more clarity that what we have right now. 


MR. WARREN:  That didn't answer my question, sir.  Am 

I right, in my conclusion, that if the Board were to determine the handbook applies, and that the return on equity level is 9 percent, that that is no longer a consisted issue in Toronto Hydro's hearing. 


MR. ZEBROWSKI:  If the Board determined that the 

ROE was 9 percent.  Am I right in your question?   


MR. WARREN:  Yes.


MR. KAISER:  Then it's off the table. 


MR. WARREN:  Now, can I can then ask you some questions about chronology, sir.  I ask, first, sir, if we could turn to the Toronto Hydro Issues Day, which was heard on November 10, 2005.  And -- 


MR. ROGER:  Do you have a copy of the excerpt, Mr. Warren?


MR. WARREN:  I am afraid, I don't, Mr. Roger. It's in the transcript of Toronto Hydro Issues Day, and my first reference, members of the Panel, will be page 86.  I incorrectly assumed Mr. Roger and Mr. Zebrowski would have it.  Mr. Zebrowski, were you present to issues day for Toronto Hydro? 


MR. ZEBROWSKI:  Yes I was. 


MR. WARREN:  I'm going to cite, sir, a portion that appears on page 86 of your counsel, Mr. Roger, which he says the following:  



"So we just have a fundamentally different view on the handbook."


My friend seems to be saying that it is completely irrelevant to choose a future test year, and we completely disagree.  So, I just wanted to put that on the record, that we think that the handbook is entirely relevant as the minimum filing requirement, and the choice of a future test year was to provide better information to the Board on certain costs, but it is still a relevant document for this application.  Do you remember, Mr. Roger, making that submission?


MR. ROGER:  Yes I do. 


MR. WARREN:  In the Board's determination of what was or was not an issue on that day, I quote from Mr. Kaiser's observation, as they appear on page 90 of the transcript.  He says:



"That, then leaves the third item which is the matter of line losses."


Here are the arguments by the utility, in this case, Toronto Hydro is that they followed the EDR 2006 guidelines, therefore, they say line losses should not be an issue because they are following the guidelines, which provides for the simple pass through of these expenses.


If I can just pause there, sir. If I were to substitute in that line the words "level of ROE", that were to say -- they say therefore that the level of ROE should not be an issue because they are following the guidelines which provides for -- and I substitute the words the "level of ROE", that would be precisely the argument that you wish to make in this motion.  Is that not fair?


MR. ROGER: That would appear to be the case, as an additional element that's not clear to us, yes.  


MR. WARREN:   Now, Mr. Kaiser, again at page 91, I and quote:



"The interveners have taken the position this happened in Toronto Hydro, is in effect, a part from the rate handbook.  They were not filed on a historical year basis, and that once having done that, if I can put it -- everything is up for grabs, all of the issues are on the table."

 Remember, that the issue here is simply whether this is an issue in this proceeding, it is not a question of deciding, at this point, which approach is right, whether the       handbook approach is right or some other approach is right with respect to the treatment of these costs.  


Do you remember him making that observation?   Mr. Zebrowski?


MR. ZEBROWSKI:  Not exactly.  Bur more or less in those terms, yes. 


MR. WARREN:  Then on page 92 of the transcript that day.  This is Mr. Kaiser, this is a difficult issue, the Board has some sympathy with the position of the interveners, that once an applicant decides to depart from the handbook, it puts in play other issues and at least allows those interveners to bring evidence and challenge the cost treatment with respect those matters. That is to say, as they put it, you can't pick and choose.  Then he continues.


Then he continues: This is not to say at the end of the someday the treatment accorded this applicant would be anything different than is in the rate handbook.  That is not the issue that is being decided at this stage today.  The only issue being decided is: Is this an issue or interveners in this proceeding with respect to this applicant entitled to question the prudency with respect cost levels with respect to line losses.


I'm going to suggest you to, Mr. Zebrowski, that what 

the Board decided your Issues Day was that the rate handbook was not binding and determine for forward test year application, and that other issues could be raised.  Would I be wrong in making that assertion, Mr. Zebrowski?   


MR. ZEBROWSKI:  Could you repeat that, please. 


MR. WARREN:  It's early on a Monday morning.  


That's an unfair observation.  Can you repeat anything beyond my name.


I'm suggesting to you, Mr. Zebrowski, that the

very issue which you've put in play or your motion is put in play today namely, whether or not the rate handbook is determinative, if you use afford test year filing and rely to some other great or less extent on the handbook, that issue was argued and resolved on your Issues Day on November 10th of 2005.  Would I be wrong in that conclusion, sir?   


MR. ZEBROWSKI:  I don't think I was fully argued at that time.  Mr. Kaiser made certain observations, but I don't think we had a full hearing in terms of whether the 

handbook applied.  I think there are different levels of applying the handbook as well.  There are many policies, procedures, rule makings within the handbook, and I think there is an obligation on each applicant to adhere to those, and Toronto Hydro has adhered to every one of those.  The only area in the handbook that we've deviated from is probably in the methodology for developing standby rates.


The only thing we've done in terms of applying the forward test year is instead of using 2004 data, we've forecast all 2006 data, and that is the only difference from what the handbooks calls for.  In fact, if you look through application, it mirrors the handbook exactly.  I don't agree that is a final determination of the applicability of the handbook. 


MR. WARREN:  Am I to understand your answer, sir, that you don't regard the Panel's decision on issues, the Toronto Hydro's Issues Day, as determinative of these issues because you didn't have a right to make a full estimation.  Is that what I understand?   


MR. ZEBROWSKI:  That -- I have haven't had the opportunity to go through the entire context of how the comments were made, so I'm sorry, I couldn't give you a full affirmation -- to agree do what you've just said.  


MR. WARREN:  Well, a week later or just a shade over a week later was the Hydro Ottawa Issues Day.


Were you present for the Hydro Ottawa Issues Day?


MR. ZEBROWSKI:  No. 


MR. WARREN:  You understand the Hydro Ottawa Issues Day, one of the things that was added to the issues list was a question of what the appropriate level of ROE should be.  You understand that?


MR. ZEBROSKI:  Yes. 


MR. WARREN:  Have you had an opportunity to review the transcript of the Issues Day in the Hydro Ottawa case?


MR. ZEBROWSKI:  No, I haven't. 


MR. WARREN:  I'm going to put to you, sir, an observation that made by then the presiding chair, first of all, is a submission which appears at page 8 of the transcript of the Hydro Ottawa case.


It is the Board Staff's position that this should be included -- that is the ROE question should be included as an issue for Hydro Ottawa and it should also be included for Toronto Hydro.  Whether we have to do some fiddling there or not, that is an issue for another time, but it is the Board Staff's position that since we have it on Hydro Ottawa and possibly we have it already in Toronto Hydro, that it doesn't make sense to exclude it from Hydro Ottawa.


Then Mr. Kaiser has made the following observation:

"All right.  We have said in the Toronto case that once you step outside the handbook, you cannot simply rely on the handbook for grounds that it should not be an issue."


Have you read that observation from Mr. Kaiser?


MR. ZEBROWSKI:  Have I read that?


MR. WARREN:  Yes.


MR. ZEBROWSKI:  No.


MR. WARREN:  Was it brought to your attention by your counsel at any point?


MR. ZEBROWSKI:  No.  I probably read it in parts, maybe, or have been aware of it, more or less.


MR. WARREN:  Well, as I read those words you to you, sir, do you not agree with me that the determination of the Board on the Hydro Ottawa Issues Day confirmed what was done in Toronto and determinative of the issue which you brought before the Board this morning?  Do you not agree with that?


MR. ZEBROWSKI:  I think, as you read it, what I hear part of what Mr. Kaiser was saying was that if there is a deviation from the handbook, and Toronto Hydro maintains that we have not deviated from that handbook.



MR. WARREN:  The next thing I would like you to turn up, sir, would be paragraph 37 of the affidavit which you filed in this application.


MR. ZEBROWSKI:  Sorry, which page?


MR. WARREN:  Paragraph 37, page 17 of 20.  Paragraph 37 reads as follows, beginning with the first sentence:

"As noted in Toronto Hydro‑Electric System Ltd.’s December 2 submission on the matter of inclusion of ROE as an issue in the 2006 EDR application, notwithstanding the agreement of the parties to the application that it would not be an issue, perhaps particularly as THESL as a public debt issuer, it is critically important that THESL's ROE is known and not subject to uncertainty due to an ongoing potential for adjustment."


Let's deal with the first part of that sentence.  When you refer to the December 2nd, 2000 submission, am I correct in understanding that Toronto Hydro's counsel made a written submission to the Board about whether or not ROE should be an issue in the Toronto Hydro issues list?  Is that what you were referring to, Mr. Zebrowski?


MR. ZEBROWSKI:  Just a second.  This was the submission that followed the Hydro Ottawa hearing, the Issues Day at Hydro Ottawa, and basically sought to get clarification in terms of the ROE item as it applied to Toronto Hydro, because at Toronto Hydro's Issues Day, ROE was not on the issues list and it was raised during the Hydro Ottawa Issues Day.  And comments were made that it was on Toronto Hydro issues list and we were given an opportunity to respond to that, and that was the response that was submitted.


MR. WARREN:  You were given an opportunity to argue, make a submission to the Board, that it should not be on Toronto Hydro's issues list, correct?


MR. ZEBROWSKI:  That's right.


MR. WARREN:  And the Board rejected that and put it on Toronto Hydro's issues list; correct?


MR. ZEBROWSKI:  That's correct.


MR. WARREN:  And what you are doing is seeking to reverse that decision this morning; isn't that right?


MR. ZEBROWSKI:  That is maybe one element of everything we are doing.  The broader issue is really the whole handbook and the report behind the handbook and do those items apply to Toronto Hydro.  Can Toronto Hydro rely in its entirety on those items?


MR. WARREN:  Well, certainly one of the issues, sir, is with respect to the level of ROE, and am I right in understanding that what you are doing is seeking in this application to reverse the decision which the Board made?


MR. ZEBROWSKI:  That would be our preference, yes.


MR. WARREN:  Now, this final determination that it would be an issue in the Toronto Hydro's issue list following your counsel's submission was made when?  Sometime in the middle of December; is that right?


MR. ZEBROWSKI:  It appeared on Procedural Order No. 2.


MR. WARREN:  Now, my question -- my final question is with respect to chronology, sir, is that you knew or could reasonably have concluded on November 10 that the Board's position was ‑‑ November 10 is the date of the Toronto Hydro's Issues Day ‑‑ that the Board's position was that the rate handbook was not determinative of all of the issues in an application -- in a forward test year application.  And my puzzlement, sir, is why you waited until essentially two months later to file an application seeking a clarification of an issue which the Board had spoken to directly in your issues day.  Why two months, sir?


MR. ZEBROWSKI:  A very critical element of the process was the ADR process that we requested the Board to install for our proceeding, and to the degree that if the ADR process was successful, then there would have been no requirement to proceed with the motion.  The matter would have been settled.  It would have been moot, basically.


MR. WARREN:  When was the Hydro issues -- sorry, ADR?


MR. ZEBROWSKI:  ADR was December 12th and 13th.


MR. WARREN:  I come back to my question, sir.  Why did you wait a month after the failure of the ADR to file an application, or, to put it from another perspective, looking at the glass half empty, why did you wait until five days before the commencement of your application to seek relief on an issue that you knew you needed relief on more than a month ago?


MR. ZEBROWSKI:  That ‑‑ it was at that point that I think the decision was made that we should proceed and start to draft the motion itself.  In the intervening period, though, we had a CDM hearing that came up December 22nd, and there were submissions prior to that that we had to prepare.  There was a holiday period that was in there, as well, between Christmas and New Year's.  And following that, we had a generic hearing process, as well.


So there are just too many competing items for us to be involved in and it just took time.


MR. WARREN:  Now, my final series of questions, sir, are with respect to the substantive issues involved in this.  Am I right in assuming, sir, that the question of whether or not the ROE should be fixed in advance of the hearing, in advance of hearing any evidence it should be fixed at 9 percent, is not an issue of academic interest only to Toronto Hydro?  In other words, Toronto Hydro feels that it has some practical implications for it; is that right?


MR. ZEBROWSKI:  It is broadly the matter of applicability of the handbook.  If the Board decides to proceed and do something different with ROE, the Board has to be aware that there are serious financial implications - potential financial implications - for Toronto Hydro should that ROE be changed.


MR. WARREN:  I'm assuming, Mr. Zebrowski, as a responsible senior manager in Toronto Hydro, that you would have done some financial analysis of the implications of Toronto Hydro getting an ROE level which was less than 9 percent; right?


MR. ZEBROWSKI:  Not personally.  Our treasurer would have, yes.


MR. WARREN:  And your treasurer did that?


MR. ZEBROWSKI:  Well, he is always churning numbers, so I imagine he has, yes.


MR. WARREN:  Well, do you know or not know, sir, whether or not Toronto Hydro, before bringing this application, actually looked at a financial analysis to determine what the implications would be of getting an ROE level of less than 9 percent?


MR. ZEBROWSKI:  I don't have the number myself.  I'm sure Mr. Sardana does, who is our treasurer.  There are further implications, though.  If the ROE is reduced, there is a very good threat to Toronto Hydro that the credit ratings of Toronto Hydro will be reduced, as well.  They will deteriorate.  With that, it becomes much more difficult for Toronto to issue new debt.  Any new debt that goes out will be at higher rates, and in the end it could have implications on Toronto Hydro's securities with the IESO.  


Although ROE itself -- and there may be a certain dollar impact with the ROE directly is one thing.  It has a number of trail-off effects, as well, that have to be considered.


MR. WARREN:  Well, you wouldn't want -- sir, I take it you wouldn't want to mislead the Board about serious implications if in fact you had not done any analysis as to what those implications would be; is that not fair?


MR. ZEBROWSKI:  Qualitatively, I'm not sure we -- we can't even get a commitment, a strong commitment, from the credit rating agencies, in terms of what those numbers be.  All they can give us is directional response, really.


MR. WARREN:  Well, is it fair to say that what you've just told us is speculative?


MR. ZEBROWSKI:  It's a threat.  It's a much greater threat that we face.


MR. WARREN:  Now, did Toronto Hydro, prior to filing its application, do a test run, if you wish, preparing an application relying only on historic test year filing?


MR. ZEBROWSKI:  We looked at it very, very early in the process.  There were some rough numbers run.  It was a very imprecise kind of a calculation.  It was really just some ballpark figures to see how different HTY and FTY were.  But nothing ‑‑ once the decision was made early in the process, it was -- we were carrying on with it.  In fact, most of the process was to file on a forward test year basis, and our understanding throughout most of the EDR development was that large utilities would be required, in fact, to be filing on a forward test year basis. 


MR. WARREN:  Am I to understand your answer that you found early on in the process that filing on using the rely on the handbook for a historic test year filing would be to constraining for Toronto Hydro, and that in order to 

accurately reflect Toronto Hydro's circumstances, you wanted to use the forward test year filing; is that correct? 


MR. ZEBROWSKI:  The forward test year filing was more our standard from the start, and I think when it became clear the larger utilities could use the historical test basis for filing their applications, we looked at it, and we wanted to be sure, that it could capture the kind of costs that we would be facing. It would result in fair rates for us, and it would be a good methodology to proceed with.  The HTY process, basically, is a shortcut methodology; it was developed for the Board as a practical means of being with utilities.


MR. WARREN: Do I understand your answer that you ran the model for the historical test year filing, and found that the rates were down?  Is that what you are saying?


MR. ZEBROWSKI:  That's right.  Yes.  It did not portray Toronto Hydro's situation in a proper and adequate and fair means. 


MR. WARREN:  And what you wanted to do, was to present Toronto Hydro's circumstances in a fair, adequate means, and so you opted for the forward test year filing; is that fair?  Have I got that right?


MR. ZEBROWSKI:  Would you say that again?  I'm not sure I caught the.


MR. WARREN:  As I understand what you just told me, sir, is that you ran the model for the historic test year filing and found that it didn't provide adequate rates for you, and that it didn't adequately and accurately reflect the circumstances of Toronto Hydro, and that given those things, you opted for a forward test year filing.  Have I got that right?


MR. ZEBROWSKI:  The forward test year filing was a much fairer and more accurate portrayal of what Toronto Hydro is facing, and the historical test year filing could not provide that. 


MR. WARREN:  Those are my questions.  Thank you.  


MR. SHEPHERD:  Mr. Chairman, shall I proceed?   


MR. KAISER: Yes.


CROSS-EXAMINATION BY MR. SHEPHERD:


MR. SHEPHERD:  Mr. Zebrowski, your head of regulatory operations for Toronto Hydro?


MR. ZEBROWSKI:  That' correct. 


MR. SHEPHERD:  So you are the final say on 

regulatory issues, generally?


MR. ZEBROWSKI:  Generally speaking.


MR. SHEPHERD:  And Toronto Hydro, the LDC component is far away the biggest part of Toronto Hydro's operations. 


MR. ZEBROWSKI:  That is correct. 


MR. SHEPHERD:  In paragraphs 16 and 21 of your affidavit, you say the Toronto Hydro filed with "few departures from the handbook."  And I take it from what you say in your affidavit, that the only significant in departures are an increase in amortization and a general increase in labour costs; is that right?


MR. ZEBROWSKI:  Yeah, those were departures, not much from the handbook, but departures made from the historical test year framework that's described in the handbook.  


MR. SHEPHERD:  Sorry.  All right.  So the increase in amortization is because you want to substantially increase your capital program; right? 


MR. ZEBROWSKI:  No, our amortizations are based on past expenditures and based on the way the system works with the numbers, based on all the historical expenditures, the amortization cost is increasing.  It has nothing to do with forward capital spending.  It will be impacted by it, but really the amortization cost is more a function of past spending. 


MR. SHEPHERD:  Your forward test year application does have substantial increase in capital spending; right?


MR. ZEBROWSKI:  I couldn't hear that. 


MR. SHEPHERD:  Your forward test year application has a substantial increase in capital spending over 2004?


MR. ZEBROWSKI:  That is correct. 


MR. SHEPHERD:  And the increase in labour cost is because of increases in your staff compensation levels from 2004 to 2006? 


MR. ZEBROWSKI:  Yeah.  We have new union contracts, these are negotiated rates with the union. These are factors that we can't step aside from.  We have to deal with them. 


MR. SHEPHERD:  That's common to a lot of utilities. 


MR. ZEBROWSKI:  That's right. 


MR. SHEPHERD:  Did you file everything else on a historical year basis?


MR. ZEBROWSKI:  No.  Once we file on a forward test year basis, that means we have to go through, and update all the numbers in the filing.  If the tier one provided for those two additional items to be concluded, it's very conceivable Toronto Hydro could have filed on an historical test year basis, really. 


MR. SHEPHERD:  So it isn't those two items that are changed in your application, all of the numbers are new; right. 


MR. ZEBROWSKI:  That's right.  We're had to forecast everything in there. 


MR. SHEPHERD:  So the basic principal -- you call the historical year filing a shortcut method, and that's right.  It's a simple, efficient way of getting to a number; right?


MR. ZEBROWSKI:  That's correct. 


MR. SHEPHERD:  And the principal in the handbook for historical year filings - tell me if that is right - is if you use the actuals for a recent year, that's a pretty close proxy to what you are going to spend in the future year; right?


MR. ZEBROWSKI:  That is how I would interrupt it.  


It creates quite a shift in the burden of proof as well.  A 2004 number is a given.  It can't be argued, therefore, if the utility bases its application on historical test year filing, it uses a 2004 figure, it then becomes -- the burden of proofs shifts to the intervener to prove why that number should not be relied upon.  Where, I think on a forward test year basis, it somewhat shifts; all the numbers now being forecast for 2006, it's up to the utility to defend those particular numbers they put forward and -- 


MR. SHEPHERD:  So the basic underlying principle of the handbook, that is that the historical data is a proxy for the future, that doesn't apply in your case, does it?


MR. ZEBROWSKI:  We haven't used historical.


MR. SHEPHERD:  That principle, then, doesn't apply; does it?


MR. ZEBROWSKI:  No. 


MR. SHEPHERD:  Now you have just spoken with Mr. Warren about forward test year results versus the historical test year results, and you have admitted that you ran the historical model; right?


MR. ZEBROWSKI:  At a very early stage, yes. 


MR. SHEPHERD   Now you were asked an interrogatory on that; right?


MR. ZEBROWSKI:  Yes we were. 


MR. SHEPHERD:  Did you provide the model?


MR. ZEBROWSKI:  No. The question, as I recall, asked about whether we ran rates and compared rates from historical and a forward test year model, and we never did run rates.


The only level we got down to, and again very, very ballpark rough levels looking at the revenue requirement. 


MR. SHEPHERD:  You were just asked the question from Mr. Warren, and I wrote it down, so you ran the model, and you found the rates were insufficient.  And you said yes. 


MR. ZEBROWSKI:  In that case, I should be corrected.  We did not get down to the rates, I'm sorry. 


MR. SHEPHERD:  All right.  But you did get down to the revenue requirement; didn't you? 


MR. ZEBROWSKI:  Yes. 


MR. SHEPHERD:  Now, your current application produces a rate decrease averaging about five percent; isn't that right?


MR. ZEBROWSKI:  On distribution, that's right. 


MR. SHEPHERD:  Now, in your summary of the application, you say that it involves a $33 million reduction in revenue requirement. Do you recall that? 


MR. ZEBROWSKI:  Yes. 


MR. SHEPHERD:  I looked at your -- immediately prior distribution revenue, and it seems to be about $467 million. And this application is asking for $457 million, which is a ten million dollar difference.  Can you telling us where the $33 million difference is?


MR. ZEBROWSKI:  Not offhand, no.  I am not sure, I think the issue may be in terms of annualized numbers, whether using calendar year numbers or rate year number, and I suspect that's what the difference.  I could not tell you where the $33 million.  Offhand.


MR. SHEPHERD:  You've admitted to Mr. Warren that the reason you filed on a forward test year basis is because if you filed on an historical test year basis, your rates would have been lower; right? 


MR. ZEBROWSKI:  It's quite possible.  We haven't run an updated historical test year model.  I couldn't guarantee that that would be the answer until we did, I could give you a firm answer.  But at this point -- I would think that would be probably the case, but I don't know. 


MR. SHEPHERD:  You know what the EDR model is. 


MR. ZEBROWSKI:  Yes. 


MR. SHEPHERD:  On sheet 55 of that model, that sheet calculates the base revenue requirement.  Do you recall that?   


MR. ZEBROWSKI:  I'm not intimately familiar with the model, I'm sorry. 


MR. SHEPHERD:  Maybe you would like to get that page of the evidence out.  It is sheet 55 of the EDR model. 


MR. ZEBROWSKI:  This is the base revenue requirement?


 MR. SHEPHERD:  It says 55, base revenue requirement.  Do you see that?


MR. ZEBROWSKI:  Yes.


MR. SHEPHERD:  Okay.  So -- and what this does, it takes the service revenue requirement, calculates for revenue offsets and gets down to what you are actually asking the Board to order, $457 million; right?


MR. ZEBROWSKI:  That's right.


MR. SHEPHERD:  Okay.  And the figure at the top of the page, the service revenue requirement - that's before the various deductions and adjustments - that's made up, correct me if I'm wrong, of $292 million of distribution expenses, 141-1/2 dollars of return, and 47-1/2 million dollars PILS?  


MR. ZEBROWSKI:  I wouldn't know that off the top of my head.


MR. SHEPHERD:  Can you then turn to sheet 51 of the model? 


MR. ZEBROWSKI:  I have it.  


MR. SHEPHERD:  And you see those three figures, 292 million in distribution expenses, $141.5 in return and $47.5 million in PILS?


MR. ZEBROWSKI:  Yes, I do.


MR. SHEPHERD:  Okay.  Now, you also filed a partial historical year model, didn't you, as part of your evidence?  It doesn't go to rates, but it does show your 2002 through 2004 data and the model produces a base revenue requirement; right?


MR. ZEBROWSKI:  No.  We didn't file historical test year model.  We modified the historical test year model to include 2005, 2006.  Again, I can't speak intimately in terms of knowing the model, but my understanding is that it was only the numbers from 2006 that flowed out into the rate determination piece.


MR. SHEPHERD:  I have a historical year model that was on the disk you sent to us which has sheet 55, base revenue requirement, right on it.


MR. ZEBROWSKI:  I'm not aware of that.


MR. SHEPHERD:  You've never seen this before?


MR. ZEBROWSKI:  I can't speak to that.  Sorry.


MR. SHEPHERD:  What was the revenue requirement that you ended up calculating under the historical year basis?


MR. ZEBROWSKI:  I don't know.


MR. SHEPHERD:  Would it be correct it's $433 million?


MR. ZEBROWSKI:  I don't know.


MR. SHEPHERD:  Mr. Chair, could I have just one second, please?  I'm a little taken aback.


MR. KAISER:  Maybe you have a document you can show the witness.


MR. SHEPHERD:  I have a printout of one page of the model, Mr. Chairman.


MR. KAISER:  Why don't you show it to him?  Maybe he'll recognize it.


MR. ZEBROWSKI:  I don't know where this came from.  I can only speculate what it may represent and I don't think I would be very helpful with anything, but this is the first time I've seen this.  Unfortunately, I don't know what it is.  I'm wondering, Mr. Chairman, it's not clear to me what the relevance of this line of questioning is, given the specific issue before the Board and the motion.


MR. KAISER:  I was going to ask Mr. Shepherd that myself.  What is the relevance of this?


MR. SHEPHERD:  Well, Mr. Chairman, the motion asks for two things.  It asks first for guidance with respect to whether the handbook applies, and we are going to in fact disagree with my friend, Mr. Rodger, and then it asks, in the alternative -- it says or asks for an adjournment or I guess permission to withdraw, if you like, if the handbook doesn't control everything, so that they can file additional information to bolster their case.  And, in fact, we are going to agree with them on that.  We think their filing is deficient and they should have some time.  


However, they also say that as of May 1st, they want to keep the same rates in the meantime, and we are going to take the position that not only should they not have the same rates, because they have already admitted that they are too high by filing an application for reduction, but, in fact, what they should have is the historical year plain vanilla rates as interim rates until they file a proper application.  And, therefore, their relief necessarily goes to the question of what their rates are on an interim basis on May 1st.


MR. TURNER:  Mr. Chairman, that does not accurately characterize the motion before the Board.  We are asking for clarification whether the application rate-making principles applies to Toronto Hydro as a future test year filer or not, and we're asking that the hearing be adjourned until we get a decision on this question.  Those are the two items in the notice of motion.


MR. KAISER:  Well, there is one ambiguity, and I don't know whether this is where Mr. Shepherd is going.  In the witness's affidavit ‑ and this is at paragraph 16, Mr. Zebrowski's affidavit - it indicates that, as I read it -- now, this is in the affidavit as opposed to the motion ‑- that your client would likely have little choice but to withdraw its application.  


And I think where Mr. Shepherd is going, I presume, on this interim rate issue - this, of course, would be stepping ahead and assuming that the Board found that return of equity should remain an issue, and you say I don't have time to -- I need something more than an adjournment.  You are going to withdraw your application, which is something I wanted to ask you a question or two about, in any event.  


And I think where Mr. Shepherd is going, the material you filed before the Board indicates you are over-earning and there is going to be a rate reduction.  If you withdraw the application, the likely course would be that the Board would declare its rates interim.  


Now, he's going further and saying as to what level of the interim rate were, but I don't think we need to get into that issue right now.


But you would agree with that, that if the application was withdrawn and the material that's before the Board indicating that Toronto Hydro is over-earning and a rate reduction is warranted, the Board would have to declare the rates interim.


MR. TURNER:  What I would suggest, sir, if that situation did occur and Toronto Hydro did withdraw its application, any consideration or issues of what might be done after May 1st I suggest would be premature today and that the issue before the Board is what we have requested, and that that discussion about what would happen on May 1st should happen at another time.


MR. KAISER:  Let me ask a question, because some of these questions are really not fair to put to this witness.  They are really matters of legal argument.


On this -- and this is the same paragraph, paragraph 16, which essentially says -- coming down to what I think everyone agrees is the issue, this return-on-equity issue, which you don't want on the table and currently is on the table.  You are saying here that if it is on the table, you'll have to prepare evidence and you haven't prepared evidence.  The witness has indicated that there are certain factors that are facing Toronto Hydro that would bear on this that are important.


 In terms of your ability to proceed with the case, let's suppose that return on equity remains an issue.  Do you have any idea of how much an adjournment you need to put in evidence on that point?


MR. TURNER:  What I would say, sir - and Mr. Zebrowski made reference to this - it's not just the return-on-equity issue.  I think when we get to the motion, you will hear this from me, that Toronto Hydro's concern is that there really is -- what we're concerned about is a rather fundamental disconnect that has appeared over the course of the past little while as to the whole context within which their application was based.  


So it's not just ROE.  It's line losses.  It's the whole approach that the company took to this application, and I think that's the bigger concern, that if way back in May when the handbook and the underlying report came out, if there was any clear indication that if you chose future test year it's a brand new ballgame, you basically can put the handbook aside and start with a blank slate, then Toronto Hydro would have prepared a very, very different application.  I think that's the concern.


You add to that what Mr. Zebrowski made reference to, if you look at Toronto Hydro's issues list for this 

hearing, as you mentioned, we were -- Toronto Hydro was very supportive of trying to achieve an ADR in this process, but regrettably that did not happen.  If you look at our issues list or topics list, incredibly broad, and the concern is that if there's been a disconnect on things like ROE and line losses, and the issue around CDM, what happens when you get into the hearing, issues around debt rate, cost of capitol, our answer will be at the hearing, We didn't produce anything on, let's say, debt rates because we are relying on the handbook; so on and so on.  So, that is why we are bringing the motion now. It just would appear, at least we're concerned, that there is just a fundamentally different view of how we proceeded and the reliance that we placed on the handbook and the report.


So if the situation occurred today, if the Board renders a decision in that the handbook doesn't apply, I think frankly, the company would be starting over from square one, and it would be a very, very different approach.  So I think in terms of adjournments, and I have not instructions on this.  We haven't gone through all the different implications, because our first choice is to proceed to a hearing tomorrow.  But if we have to withdraw, I would think that it would be several, several months before we would conclude the kind of case that we would want to, with the handbook, in no way applies.  


MR. KAISER:  All right, thank you.  Mr. Shepherd?   


MR. SHEPHERD:  Mr. Chairman, I should add to that 

I think there are other parts of the application that are deficient: And I may ask about a couple of them in a minute with this witness.  And I guess the issue on what happens if the handbook isn't the default for Toronto Hydro, is whether the Board will allow the company to withdraw their application.  


Of course the Board is now seized with this application, and the company, in our view, cannot unilaterally decide, We don't want to play any more.  That, in our view, is not appropriate.  So when that issue comes up, it seems to me that that is the natural result of this motion.


However, I understand that this point has been made, and so, I'll cut short those questions and go on to the question. 


MR. KAISER:  Thank you.  


MR. SHEPHERD:  Mr. Zebrowski, you've seen the affidavit of Mr. Seal from the School Energy Coalition. 


MR. ZEBROWSKI:  Yes, I have. 


MR. SHEPHERD:  His summary of your application and those of Ottawa, Hamilton and London, shows the Toronto Hydro charges its ratepayers more in almost every case for distribution of power.  Are those numbers correct?


MR. ZEBROWSKI:  I haven't had a chance to verify them.


MR. SHEPHERD:  Well, of course, you have seen those numbers before in previous evidence; right? 


MR. ZEBROWSKI:  I didn't check them that closely. 


MR. SHEPHERD:  So you don't know whether in fact the Toronto Hydro is the most expensive urban utility in the 

province?


MR. KAISER:  Mr. Shepherd, while you're on that, was the relevance of the Seal affidavit to this proceeding?


MR. SHEPHERD:  It does to the same point, Mr. Chairman.  If my friend wish to argue, as he might, that the current rate should stay in place, it would be relevant for the Board in determining what is just and reasonable in the interim to know that they are higher than everything else. 


MR. KAISER:  It goes to the level of income rates.


MR. SHEPHERD:  Yes.  Let me turn to paragraph 6 to 10 of your affidavit, Mr. Zebrowski. There, you talk about the EDR process.  Do you see that?


MR. ZEBROWSKI:  Yes. 


MR. SHEPHERD:  Your former manager, Mr. McClore, and other members of your team, were very actively involved in that process; right?


MR. ZEBROWSKI:  That's correct. 


MR. SHEPHERD:  In fact, you were there from time to time.


MR. ZEBROWSKI:  I attended workshops that the Board held, yes.


MR. SHEPHERD:  During that process there was a spirited debate and tier one adjustments; right? 


MR. ZEBROWSKI:  Yes.


MR. SHEPHERD:  For example, there was a debate on which regular expenses would be considered tier one, and which ones you would be stuck with 2004 actuals; right?


MR. ZEBROWSKI:  I can't recall definitely.


MR. SHEPHERD:  You don't recall that discussion.


MR. ZEBROWSKI:  No.


MR. SHEPHERD:  Do you recall there were a number of utilities that wanted a tier one adjustment for changes in compensation levels, labour rates? Do you recall that? 


MR. ZEBROWSKI:  I can't recall the specifics. I wasn't actively involved in the teams, so to have a really good, clear recollection of every item that was discussed and how it was discussed, I wouldn't be able to provide that for you. 


MR. SHEPHERD:  Well, now your affidavit purports to inform us of the facts of what that process was about, the nature of the process; right? 


MR. ZEBROWSKI:  Yes. 


MR. SHEPHERD:  You weren't actually there most of the time. 


MR. ZEBROWSKI:  Not during the teams.  I attended workshops; there was continual discussion between myself and Mr. McClore.  Many of the key issues were brought forward by Mr. McClore to larger groups within Toronto Hydro, and we discussed them there.  Issues were being discussed in amongst the coalition of large distributors. We met quite regularly on these kinds of things. The issues were being discussed at our levels, but how he did the debates within the teams, I couldn’t speak to.


MR. SHEPHERD:  So one of your two main issues is increases in compensation levels, but you don't remember whether that was discussed in the EDR process as a tier one adjustment?


MR. ZEBROWSKI: I assume it was because it was such a significant item that every utility would face.  But I couldn't state that, yes, I do recollect that would not be the case. 


MR. SHEPHERD:  You do know that the final decision was not to make a tier one adjustment; don't you.


MR. ZEBROWSKI:  That's correct, yes. 


MR. SHEPHERD:  But the essence of your argument here really, tell me whether this is right, is that you want to be able to file on a forward test year basis, numbers that's are similar to your historical numbers but cherry pick the ones you want to make big changes to?


MR. ZEBROWSKI:  No, as I said before, we were looking or intending to file on a forward test year basis anyway at the very start of the process.  Later in the process when it became apparent that large utilities could in fact use the historical test year approach, we looked at it very quickly, compared it, realizing its limitations and would it fairly represent Toronto Hydro's revenue requirements and so on.  And it was dismissed, and we want back to the -- toward test year process, because it looked at all the numbers and properly forecast every number that we had to for 2006. 


MR. SHEPHERD:  You've indicated in your affidavit that some of the rule in the handbook set out minimum filing 

requirements; right? 


MR. ZEBROWSKI:  That's correct. 


MR. SHEPHERD:  And for those things, you can always file more, but you can't file less; right? 


MR. ZEBROWSKI:  Correct. 


MR. SHEPHERD:  So Hydro One, for example, which filed on a forward test year basis, they file a lot more information than the minimum; right?


MR. ZEBROWSKI:  Correct. 


MR. SHEPHERD:  And you filed a little bit more; you didn't file just the minimum, but in a lot of areas you filed the minimum; right?


MR. ZEBROWSKI:  We filed whatever we had to in order to support the forecast that we used for 2006. Anywhere there's a piece of data where we move from 2004 to 2006, and there was a 2006 figure there, we provided justification for those 2006 numbers, and this included, load forecasts, the capital numbers.  We provided detail necessary in the capital work programs that are going ahead in 2006.  So everywhere you saw numbers related to 2006, we provided support for.  And that was, of course, in addition to what anybody else would have had to file.


MR. SHEPHERD:  Do you still have that base revenue requirement page that I gave you?


MR. ZEBROWSKI:  Yes. 


MR. SHEPHERD:  And this by the way, we just checked to web side, this is on the Board's web side as well, this spreadsheet, so you are welcome to take a look at it after you are finished, if you wish.  


Take a look at the line other income and deductions; do you see that?


MR. ZEBROWSKI:  Yes.


MR. SHEPHERD:  What does it say?


MR. ZEBROWSKI:  $17 million, 600 thousand. 


MR. SHEPHERD:  So I am reading from the one you filed, the forward test year one, and it says $3.3 million. That's a big difference; isn't it?


MR. ZEBROWSKI:  That would be, yes. 


MR. SHEPHERD:  Can you tell us what that's about.


MR. ROGER:  Again, Mr. Chairman, this seems more like a cross-examination than a hearing around choice of test year.  I think it goes beyond the motion for you today, sir.


MR. KAISER:  I think where Mr. Shepherd is trying to get, and maybe you can help me Mr Shepherd, are you trying to understand what the main differences that resulted when the applicant chose a forward test year as opposed to an historical test year.


MR. SHEPHERD:  And that's part of it, you're right, Mr. Chair.  The other part, which may be equally important, is that everyone is going to do the math and realize that ROE is worth $4.4 million, it's not complicated.  So that doesn't seem like a big deal, it seems like something you can fix.  But that is not the only thing in issue here.  There are issues of affiliated transactions. There are issues of this other service revenue, this $15 million difference.  My friend is not talking about those.  So we need to know the overall extent of the problem; the Board needs to know this appropriate decision.  That is why we are raising it.


MR. KAISER:  All right, sir.


MR. SHEPHERD:  Let me move on.  In addition to the rules in the handbook dealing with minimum filing requirements, there's a second set of rules that are based on principal; right?  During the course of the debate over the handbook, there were some issues that were debated in substance, like PILs, for example.  How should PILs actually be recovered?  And the Board made determinations on principal; right?


MR. ZEBROWSKI:  That's correct.


MR. SHEPHERD:  And it's fair to say that those issues of principal, should, generally speaking, unless there's some reason otherwise, apply to all utilities, because they are issuers of principal; right?


MR. ZEBROWSKI:  We agree.


MR. SHEPHERD:  Okay.  But there's a third category, as well. Aren't there a category of rules that are intentionally shortcuts, as you said?


 MR. ZEBROWSKI:  The only shortcut that I'm aware of is really in filing the data requirements to support the application.  The normal standard would be for every applicant to file on a forward test year basis and forecast all its 2006 data.  The Board has allowed 2004 numbers to be used as a proxy to the -- well, on a number of different levels for the applicants to use those numbers, instead of using actual forecasted 2006 numbers.  So that to me is the only shortcut.  The way Toronto Hydro processed its application was that the entire handbook, all its rules and rate‑making principles and policies, everything, was applicable to everyone, including Toronto Hydro.


MR. SHEPHERD:  Including the shortcuts?


MR. ZEBROWSKI:  As I said, the shortcuts only related to the data requirements necessary to support 2006 numbers.  That to me is the only shortcut.


MR. SHEPHERD:  It also relates to the actual numbers themselves; right?  The shortcut is you use historical.  That's your number for 2006.


MR. ZEBROWSKI:  Or the data, that's right.


MR. SHEPHERD:  So, for example, in cost of debt, instead of going to a future projection, the Board fixed a number from basically a 2004-type number; right?


MR. ZEBROWSKI:  I don't consider that a shortcut.  That was a rule that the Board applied and we adhered to that rule, and we saw that more as a rule.  That's not a shortcut methodology.  The Board even on ROE anticipated a number of update mechanisms to ROE and they were inclined to use those.


MR. SHEPHERD:  Mr. Chairman, those are my questions.


MR. KAISER:  Mr. Adams, any questions?


CROSS-EXAMINATION BY MR. ADAMS:

MR. ADAMS:  A couple of brief questions.  Mr. Zebrowski, Toronto Hydro currently has no earnings-sharing mechanism whereby any excess earnings over the Board-allowed return on equity might in future years be shared with ratepayers.  Do you agree with that?


MR. ZEBROWSKI:  That's right.  The Board has never had a requirement for any LDC in Ontario to have an earning-sharing mechanism.


MR. ADAMS:  If you were to withdraw your application, I take it you would agree with me there is a potential for earning ‑‑ over-earnings to develop, depending on how the rates of the utility work out over that period; is that correct?


MR. ZEBROWSKI:  There's always an element of risk in terms of when utilities file for a rate application and certain revenue requirements that are forecast around that rate application.  When the final results come in, depending on weather patterns and any number of variables, the final net income would be higher or could be lower.  That's an accepted risk that we have to live with.


MR. ADAMS:  Have you put your mind to a potential evenings-sharing mechanism that could bridge the gap between ‑‑ should you withdraw your application in this case, there may be some elapsed time before another rate can be put in place.  Have you put your mind to an earnings-sharing mechanic that might apply for this bridging period?


MR. ZEBROWSKI:  I have not considered that at all.


MR. ADAMS:  Can you, in general terms, identify what groups of executives within Toronto Hydro were involved in the decision to file the motion that we're debating here today?


MR. ZEBROWSKI:  We would have had the CEO involved, our CAO, our CFO, our treasurer, myself, our CEO of our Wires company.  That would probably be the bulk of the group.


MR. ADAMS:  All right.  Now, do I understand correctly that there are ‑‑ that the members of this group, in general, have as part of their compensation packages executive bonuses that are to some extent geared to earnings?  


 MR. ZEBROWSKI:  There was one component that was related to the holding companies, and executives had a small component of their earnings related to net income.  And, again, as declared in the rate handbook, those items were removed from the revenue requirement.


MR. ADAMS:  Now, Mr. Zebrowski, you're an employee of Toronto Hydro, not directly an employee of THEISL; right?


 MR. ZEBROWSKI:  I'm an employee of Toronto Hydro Corporation.


MR. ADAMS:  Is your shareholder informed about ‑‑ was your shareholder involved at all in the decision to file this motion?


MR. ZEBROWSKI:  I'm not aware ‑‑ I don't speak to the shareholders.  I'm not aware of any communications going on between Toronto Hydro and the shareholder.


MR. ADAMS:  So we have no information as to whether the city has contemplated the benefits or otherwise of withdrawing an application that would otherwise have proposed a decrease in rates?


MR. ZEBROWSKI:  I can't speak to that.


MR. ADAMS:  Thank you.  Those are my questions.


MR. KAISER:  Thank you, Mr. Adams.  Mr. Dingwall?


MR. DINGWALL:  I have no questions.


MR. KAISER:  Mr. Farrell?


MR. FARRELL:  No, thank you, sir. 


MR. KAISER:  Mr. DeVellis?


CROSS-EXAMINATION BY MR. DeVELLIS:

MR. DeVELLIS:  Yes, sir, I do have just a couple of areas of questions. 


Mr. Zebrowski, do you have paragraph 23 of your affidavit?


At the bottom of page 7 of 20, you quote various passages from the Board's decision and the electricity distribution rate handbook, which discuss various options of determining the return on equity.  I'm pointing specifically to the bottom of page 7 to the top of page 8, where you quote a passage where the Board is discussing various options for determining the 2006 ROE, and one of which was on option to essentially update the 2006 to the most recent data, and the Board said that that option -- the quote that is on the top of page 8 implies precision in the cost of capital parameters that are unwarranted and unnecessary.


Do you see that there?


MR. ZEBROWSKI:  Yes, I do.


MR. DEVELLIS:  Now, do you agree with me that the purpose of a forward test year filing is to provide a forecast of the cost of service and revenue, supported by comprehensive evidence on all of those components?


 MR. ZEBROWSKI:  Generally, a forecast test year, you are forecasting the costs and the revenues of the utility.  And I think that, if I can maybe reference you back to the Board's report on the handbook, on page 10 of that report there was ‑‑ I'll just read it here.  I have it in front of me:

"If an applicant chooses to apply on a forward test year basis, it must supply substantial supporting material to justify its projected expenses and revenues."


That to me is very explicit.  That's really what it's looking to forecast.  Anything else that's in the handbook is taken -- as I said before, that is a given rule.  So whether -- where the Board has already discussed ROE and everything else and set a figure for those numbers, every utility was expected -- at least we our interpretation was that every utility was expected to adhere to those particular rules and numbers.


MR. DeVELLIS:  Well, you don't consider the cost of capital part of projected expenses and revenue?


MR. ZEBROWSKI:  The cost of capital -- the structure of the cost of capital and the components within that were fixed by Board, as declared in the handbook.


MR. DeVELLIS:  I'm talking about the general -- the passage you just quoted from on page 10 of the decision, that is a general comment on the structure of the application.


MR. ZEBROWSKI:  That's right.


MR. DeVELLIS:  What I'm asking is:  Would that comment -- that passage you just read from you don't feel applies to cost of capital as well.


MR. ZEBROWSKI:  No, it is very specific.  It says projected expense from revenues.  To me, that the only expectation of anything different between a forward and historical test year filer. 


MR. DEVELLIS:  Okay.  I was going to ask you on the following page, page 11 of the decision.  Just above 

adjustments to the 2004 historical test year.  



"For any future 2006 test year applications comprehensive evidence and a thorough analysis will be required, and therefore, full disclosure is warranted and also be required."


MR. ZEBROWSKI:  What's your question?


MR. DEVELLIS:  If you could also turn to the handbook itself on page 10, four options are set out for distribution applicants.  And I believe you quoted in your affidavit from option 4, just below option 4, the bottom of page 10:



"The guidelines provided in the 2006 handbook relate to historical test year filings as outlined in options 1, 2 and 3 above."


The handbook is a specific guideline for the return on equity.


MR. ZEBROWSKI:  I don't consider the return on equity to be a guideline.  That to me is more rule.  The handbook contains policies, rules, regular rate-making principles, a number of different things, and guidelines are, I guess, a softer component of that.


MR. DEVELLIS:  It's part it have handbook, that's my question.


MR. ZEBROWSKI:  It is, yes.


MR. DEVELLIS:  And the passage I just read from, says that the 2006 handbook relates to options 1, 2 and 3.


MR. ZEBROWSKI:  The guidelines provided in the handbook, yes.


MR. DEVELLIS:  And Toronto Hydro hasn't filed under options 1, 2 or 3.


MR. ZEBROWSKI:  That's correct.


MR. DEVELLIS:  Now just going back to the passage I read at the opening of my questions.  If the Board had decided at the outset that the guidelines in the handbook don't apply to forward test year filers, it wouldn't necessarily say in every section, this does not apply to, in every specific section, this does not a forward test year filer; it said so at the outset.


MR. ZEBROWSKI:  I think the handbook would make a very clear declaration that this handbook is strictly, only for the use of forward test year filers.  But when it has other comments suggesting an applicant filed on a forward test year basis still -- the only kind of substantial supporting material it has to file only relates to expenses and revenues, then, that to me is an indication.


It talks a great deal of deviation from the handbook, and what is considered a deviation.  The applicant has the prerogative to deviate from that handbook, but any time they do it, they have to supply justification, supporting material to make that determination.


As I said already, Toronto Hydro has followed this handbook faithfully with one exception on standby rates.  All we've done is update the numbers from 2004, 2006. 


MR. DEVELLIS:  Now, getting back inform to the earlier passage that you quoted in your affidavit regarding the precision of capital parameters that are unwarranted, unnecessary.  In the context of a forward test year filing where you've updated other aspects of your cost for service, cost of labour, for example, isn't it possible that the Board had it turned it's mind to that point would have found that an update to the cost of capital was warranted or necessary?


MR. ZEBROWSKI:  I'm sorry I didn't follow your question.


MR. DEVELLIS:  Just referring you back to the passage, I hope, read at the beginning, that is quoted in your affidavit.


MR. ZEBROWSKI:  Remind me which passage that was now. We have done a number of these.


MR. DEVELLIS:  The passage was with respect to the alternative to update to the 2006 ROE.  With the most recent information.  Up-to-date information.


MR. ZEBROWSKI:  Okay.  This is from page 7.


MR. DEVELLIS:  The top of page 8.


MR. ZEBROWSKI:  And the methodology for updating ROE.


MR. DEVELLIS:  I then read from you the passage in the handbook, which says that the handbook applies to options 1, 2 and 3.  And my question to you was, given those comments, if the Board wouldn't necessarily have addressed its mind to forward test year file in every section of the handbook, if it had said at the outset, that handbook doesn't apply unless you are filing under option 1, 2 or 3.


MR. ZEBROWSKI:  I'm sorry, I'm really missing your question.  I don't see the relevant of that back to the Board decision on ROE.  I don't find the connection there. 


MR. DEVELLIS:  Well, if the Board decided at the outset the handbook would not applied unless you are filing under option 1, 2, 3, so not including forward test year filing.


MR. ZEBROWSKI:  You are assuming the handbook doesn't apply or you are just referencing to that one.


MR. DEVELLIS:  I'm referencing that passage I read from on page 10 of the handbook.  Once the Board got into the specific elements of an application, it wouldn't necessarily discuss forward test year filing in every section if it had decided at the outset that the handbook doesn't applied to forward defendant year filings.


MR. ZEBROWSKI:  Whatever -- however the handbook is written, I guess is behind us now.  But I think what we are discussing in general is that the handbook is maybe not precisely clear in terms of its a applicability to forward test year filers, and what is expected of afford test year filer, and can that forward test year filer rely on the handbook in its entirety.  It's either, we rely on everything in the handbook or nothing in the handbook; I don't see half way.  Unless the Board went through and specifically noted every section, this one applies, this one doesn't apply.  That would be clear as well, bur right now, we don't have that clarity, and that I think that is the dilemma we are facing, is that we don't have the regulatory certainty that we need to proceed with the application. And until the Board can giver us a decision that preferably would declare that, yes, we can rely on the handbook, we know what the rules of the game are, basically, and we can move ahead. 


MR. DEVELLIS:  My question was, do you agree it wouldn't be necessary to do so if it made a clear statement at the outset that didn't --.


MR. ZEBROWSKI:  I couldn't hear you.


MR. DEVELLIS:  My question was: Do you agree, putting a suggestion you to it wouldn't be necessary for the Board to do that if it made a clear statement at the outset of the handbook that it doesn't apply to forward test year filers.


MR. ZEBROWSKI:  If they had made that statement, then we would know what the rules of the game were, and I think you would have seen a much, much different application than what you see in front of you.  


We rely totally on every rule that's in that handbook and that's how we filed the application. If it did not apply -- I don't think we could have filed it within three months if it was the case.  It would have been impossible to do. As we have noted in the affidavit, it would take at year to prepare all that kind of studies and data and so on to prepare the thing properly.


MR. DEVELLIS:  I'm going to move on.


Do you agree with me that the ratio of the cost of capital to say the cost of labour is important in terms of firm's decision to employ capital versus labour?   


MR. ZEBROWSKI:  You'll to have repeat that.  I didn't understand that.


MR. DEVELLIS:  Well, the question is about the relative cost of capital versus the cost of labour, and whether that influences, that ratio influences the firm's to employ capital versus labour. If the cost of labour went up and the cost of capital was constant, then the firm may be inclined to spend more on labour versus capital -- or less than labour, rather. 

MR. ZEBROWSKI:  I really don't know how to answer that, to be honest.


MR. DEVELLIS:  My next question was going to be, if you determine the cost of capital on a basis that's different from how you determine the cost of labour -- in other words, you've updated the cost of labour for what you think is going to happen in 2006, but you don't update cost of capital accordingly, then it skews the firm's decision-making.  You've set one factor on a different basis than how you've set the other factor.


MR. ZEBROWSKI:  I'm having difficulty.  I don't see how you can you trade off labour and capital.  Cost of capital, that's the capital structure of the organization dependent on returns and debt rates and so on, a much different environment than dealing with its own labour forces.


MR. DeVELLIS:  Well, you could choose to update some equipment rather than investing in more labour, labour-saving capital, for example.


MR. ZEBROWSKI:  You're basically, if I understand it, then, talking trading off capital programs versus operating a maintenance program, investing more in new equipment and reducing maintenance costs.


MR. DeVELLIS:  As one example, yes.


MR. ZEBROWSKI:  And your question again, then?


MR. DeVELLIS:  Well, my question is:  Doesn't it skew the firm's decision-making if you are setting price of labour on a forward test year basis using your assumptions for 2006, but you are not updating the cost of capital, accordingly?


MR. ZEBROWSKI:  Well, I think that is somewhat irrelevant, in this regard, in that the Board has made a decision in terms of how to treat the cost of capital, and they have put that in the handbook.  They have had the discussion around what are the rule-making principles, and so on, around cost of capital and that based on their final decision, that is the handbook and the handbook is very clear in terms of what a utility uses on its cost of capital.


Where there is some discretion is on the type of test year filing that a utility can use, whether it's a historical test year with no adjustments or tier 1 or forward test year.  Now all we are doing is really looking at updating the actual data requirements, its cost and revenue requirements.


MR. DeVELLIS:  You mentioned the Board has made a decision with respect to the cost of capital.  If we assume that that decision is restricted to historical test year filing, then in terms of -- my earlier point does make sense, because then you would be setting the cost of capital and the cost of labour on the same basis; in other words, a historical basis.


MR. ZEBROWSKI:  We haven't filed on that basis.  As I said, I mean, if we were to take this away, if the Board were to declare that the handbook in its entirety does not apply to Toronto Hydro, then we would be faced with those kind of situations, yes, but the way it stands right now, we relied on the handbook and the rules within the handbook and that was a given to us.  We couldn't do anything with that.


MR. DeVELLIS:  My last area of questions is:  In your affidavit, you mention at various times your discussions with Board Staff.  Now, I'm just not clear whether your ‑‑ perhaps this is a legal question, but whether you're arguing that notwithstanding what the Board's determination of the proper answer on this question of whether or not the handbook applies, that you Toronto Hydro should be exempted from that because of your discussions or your representations made to you from Board Staff.


MR. ZEBROWSKI:  No, I think the only reason we put that there was to say that we had discussions with Board Staff throughout the preparation of the application.  If there ever was an issue of insufficiency or deficiency within the application, the Board ‑‑ they had it for a period of three months, from the time we filed until the first Procedural Order was issued.  I think that it would have been logical to assume that if there was any kind of a problem with the filing, that Board Staff would have noticed us.  They know what to expect on these kinds of applications.


MR. DeVELLIS:  Thank you very much.  Those are my questions.


MR. KAISER:  Thank you.  Mr. Millar, do you have any questions?


MR. MILLAR:  No, I don't, Mr. Chairman.


QUESTIONS FROM THE PANEL:

MR. KAISER:  Mr. Zebrowski, just following up from Mr. DeVellis, is it your position that if an applicant follows the handbook with any particular items, such as return on equity - let's use that, since this is the live issue here - it means that no intervenor can argue that that issue should be contested in a proceeding?


MR. ZEBROWSKI:  I think that's fundamentally what the difference is here.  If I can refer back, we had a rate ‑‑ prior rate case back in the year 2000, I believe, following the initial rate handbook that was released, and we did have intervenors at our hearing, at the oral hearing, and they were challenging some of the elements of what we had applied for that were based on the rate handbook.  


And at that time, the presiding member made it very clear that these issues had already been dealt with in the process leading up to the first handbook and, therefore, were not on the table any longer.  Toronto Hydro had done its job in following that handbook.  


So I think the utility should be able to rely on that handbook fully.  As I said, the argument around those issues has already been dealt with and it should be firm and be able to move ‑‑ allow the parties to move forward from there.  The utility knows the case it has to meet in terms of preparing its application.  I think that's the fundamental difference.


MR. TURNER:  Mr. Kaiser, perhaps I could assist, as well, because there's a certain legal aspect to that question.


I think this is plain from our motion record that the handbook provides a policy framework, rate‑making principles which Toronto Hydro says it's relied upon.  Throughout this process, if either the applicant, for example, wanted to raise another issue outside of those principles, they are free to do and provide the evidence.  


I think what is the origin of the concern in this case is that we had the decisions on rate‑making policies of this Board, for example, on ROE, and yet it was the Board itself that made this an issue in Toronto Hydro's case.  I think that's the distinction, what we need clarification around.  


In our view, that ROE issue had already been decided, and it's very plain from the report how you wanted to proceed.  But the Board raising this as an issue when the parties themselves have had not made it an issue, I think that's where ‑‑ that really drove the decision why we need clarity around this. 


I don't think it's as much as parties being able to raise issues.  I think in this case, it's a decision of the Board and that same Board imposing an issue that we thought had settled and done, and we relied on it on that basis.


MR. KAISER:  I think there are two issues here, and I'm raising this now so you'll think about them and deal with them in your submissions.


The first is what the handbook is, and I think it's pretty clear, at least in my mind, that it's a guideline and not a decision of the Board.  It's a filing guideline.  And, in fact, as you'll be aware, we've gone and had subsequent proceedings so that we could get binding rulings for certain matters that are in the handbook, because what was in the handbook was not binding on the parties, to add greater clarity and certainty, which was apparently not there in the handbook.  That's one point.


But then if I understand your argument, a utility can take the position, according to you, that unless it agrees, the Board and any intervenors have to accept the return on equity that's in the handbook.  In other words, the utility can apply for a variance, upwards or downwards, but if the utility decides to stick with that number, 9 percent, no intervenor can come forward and say the number ought to be different.  They are barred from ‑‑ they have to accept that rule.  They have to accept that number in that case.  Is that really your position?


MR. TURNER:  No.  No, sir.  I think that if an intervenor wanted to raise the issue of ROE, that it would be incumbent on that intervenor to produce evidence why there would be a different number.  What we are saying is -- but as the base case rate‑making principle, that the Board establish that for this round of rates at 9 percent, and what was the concern is that this wasn't an issue for intervenors in our Issues Day, but it was the Board itself that raised it as an issue.  That's why we believe there is a disconnect between the policies that we believe were decisions.  We believe that the lead-up to the rate handbook was a process and the Board made findings on that process in terms of handbook and the actual decisions you made in there, like on ROE, like online losses and others.


It's not the issue of other parties being able to raise issues in a process.  It's the issue of having a decision of this Board, and then that seemingly being made open to challenge by the Board itself.


MR. KAISER:  And the decision of the Board being the rate handbook?


MR. TURNER:  Well, the decision being the actual rate‑making policies.  On ROE, for example, if you go to the report and you go to the actual handbook, my view, sir, is it's clear that any reasonable person would think that that is a conclusion, a finding of the Board on that particular issue.


MR. KAISER:  And I accept that.  And you used the term earlier a base rate or… 


MR. TURNER:   Default.


MR. KAISER:  Default, better term.  The 

issue before us now is return of equity a contested issue in this case? And you seem to be arguing that if I followed the handbook, it cannot be a contested issue.  We are not making a determination here on what return equity is. Today, we are trying to decide whether return on equity can be a consisted issue you.  You say it can't be, because we didn't agree to it.  


MR. TURNER:  What I'm saying, sir, is we are looking for a decision whether Toronto Hydro, as a future test year filer, was entitled to rely on that finding, that decision in the report or not.  Because if it can't, then there is no evidence about ROE, at all, in this case.


MR. KAISER:  Let's suppose we say you can rely on it, and let's suppose it's a contested issue, which it is now on the basis Procedural Order number 2.  What that would suggest, is somebody else could come in and argue that the 9 percent is not the right number.  Is what you’re arguing about simply whether you have to bring evidence?


MR. TURNER:  Well, that's in part.  If -- for example, perhaps let's assume we are in the hearing, and Mr. Zebrowski is cross-examined on ROE, and my friend Mr. Warren asked why didn't you produce evidence on ROE. His answer will be, Because we relied on the decision in the handbook.


MR. KAISER:  Fine.


MR. TURNER:  That's part of what we need clarification. 


MR. KAISER:  Are you happy with that? If we say it's a -- prepare your case on the basis of the handbook, and over to you, Mr. Warren, if you think the numbers should be different than 9 percent.  Is that all you are arguing 

about?


MR. TURNER:  It's the entire application, it's all those findings. 


MR. KAISER:  I know it's the entire application. Let's just deal with this one example.  This is the issue; right?  Is return of equity a contested issue?  That's the issue before us -- I know you've brought it in broad.  You want a general principle -- and that's fair.  But the practical issue that's before us, I think, as you say, in these other cases, return of equity popped up and the Board on its own motion said, Yes we think it should be a contested issue in your case, in the Toronto case, even though, apparently, the parties didn't turn their mind to it.  Is that fair?


MR. TURNER:  That's fair.


MR. KAISER:  So the question is, given the handbook as it sits, and given it says return of equity, and given you relied on it, does that mean return on equity cannot be a contested issue? The Board has been a decision that this should be a contested issue in this case, admittedly, and you would have to agree that the Board has some discretion to decide what should be contested issues in cases.  You wouldn't dispute that; would you? 


MR. TURNER:  I wouldn't, but I think that is where the uncertainty is.  What then was the import of the findings in the handbook in the report?


MR. KAISER:  Exactly.  And it goes back to my question to you: Do you interpret this handbook to say that if an applicant follows the handbook with respect to any of those items, they can't be a contested issue raised by any party, including the Board, and those matters -- those values have to be plugged in automatically?


MR. TURNER:   I think in the context of what you decided the report and handbook would override that ultimately.  In other words, the party could bring an issue, but at the end the day the Board would decide -- we've already decided this, and that's what we put out there in terms of the LDC sector, the LDC should have been entitled to rely on that, and therefore, the judicial evidence will not carry the day.


MR. KAISER:  Well, there are two different issues: there is whether the applicant can rely on it, i.e. I'm not calling evidence on return of equity, I followed the handbook; or whether, it's this is a precursor issue, it is because of the handbook, because of your following the handbook, an applicant is entitled to say, It can't be a contested issue.  Nobody can call evidence on this.  It is what it is.   Follow the handbook. There's a difference.  Do you understand the difference?


MR. TURNER:  Yes.


MR. KAISER:  I don't mean to put you on the spot, but when we come to submission, maybe you can help me out on that because that's where I've got a problem.  I just wanted to alert you.  We'll take the half hour at this point.  


Any more examination of this witness?   Mr. Millar, you had no questions, I think? 


MR. MILLAR:  Correct.


MR. SHEPHERD:  Perhaps this is an appropriate time for Mr. Roger to advise whether he plans to cross-examination Mr. Seal. 


MR. KAISER:  Yes, of course.


MR. TURNER:  I think Mr. Shepherd clarified what 

the intent what.  It wasn't clear to me, but I would like to ask Mr. Seal a couple of questions.


MR. KAISER:  Do you want to do that now or after the break?


MR. TURNER:  Perhaps after the break.


MR. KAISER:  Fine.  Is that satisfactory, Mr Shepherd?


MR. SHEPHERD:  Yes.


--- Recess taken at 11:06 a.m.


--- On resuming at 11:41 a.m.


MR. KAISER:  Please be seated.  Mr. Millar, how do you want to proceed by way of argument?


MR. MILLAR:  I believe we still have to provide for ‑‑


MR. KAISER:  That's right, Mr. Seal, sorry.  And you had some questions, Mr. Rodger.  Please proceed.


MR. RODGER:  Mr. Millar, is it necessary for Mr. Seal to be sworn?


MR. MILLAR:  Yes, it is.


MR. KAISER:  Mr. Shepherd, do you have any direct?


MR. SHEPHERD:   No, I don't.  I can advise the parties that hard copies of Mr. Seal's affidavit and attachments are in the back of the room.  It was sent to everybody electronically on Friday.


MR. KAISER:  By the way, while we're on that, could we mark the two affidavits as exhibits, Mr. Zebrowski's and Mr. Seal's?


MR. MILLAR:  Mr. Chair, we'll mark those as - I'll pick the letter K - K1.1 for Mr. Zebrowski's ‑‑ actually, perhaps we should just mark the entire motion record, because that has the affidavit in it and notice of motion in it.


MR. KAISER:  That's fine.


MR. MILLAR:  That will be K1.1.


EXHIBIT NO. K1.1:  MR. ZEBROWSKI'S MOTION RECORD.

MR. MILLAR:  Mr. Seal's affidavit and the tables that accompany it will be Exhibit K1.2.  

EXHIBIT NO. K1.2:  MR. SEAL'S AFFIDAVIT, TOGETHER WITH TABLES. 

TORONTO HYDRO – PANEL 2:


Darryl Seal; Sworn


CROSS-EXAMINATION BY MR. RODGER:

MR. RODGER:  Mr. Seal, we have a copy of your affidavit and Exhibit A before me, and I gather what you've done is that you've taken distribution costs arising from 2006 applications of Toronto Hydro, Hydro Ottawa, London Hydro and Horizon Utilities and you've simply compared costs to costs; is that correct?


MR. SEAL:  That's correct.  The data was taken directly from the EDR application of each of the utilities.


MR. RODGER:  And I take it that your point in producing this exhibit is to demonstrate that Toronto Hydro's proposed rates are higher than the other utilities you have put in the group; is that fair?


MR. SEAL:  That's correct.  That's what this evidence was put together -- to do the comparison on the different rate classes of Toronto Hydro's rates and bill implications on the distribution side against the different utilities.


MR. RODGER:  Now, it's no surprise to any of us that of the 85 LDCs across the province, each have different rates, each have different costs.  What do you want the Board to take from your evidence?  Other than rates, different utilities have different rate levels and different costs?


MR. SEAL:  As was stated by Mr. Shepherd earlier today, our intent in filing this information as part of this motion was really to put on record the difference in costs between the utilities.  Schools has a general concern about differing costs in different LDCs and we were concerned, in particular, of Toronto Hydro's case, that if the motion resulted in a withdrawal of the application, what that might mean for rates for Schools for 2006.


MR. RODGER:  But what do you want this Board to take from the fact that different utilities have different costs?  For example, are you trying to make the inference because one utility has a higher cost, that therefore their rates are unreasonable or the utility is inefficient?  Is that what you are asking this Board to draw?


MR. MILLAR:  Mr. Chairman, I don't think Seal's affidavit draws any conclusions from this data, at all.  He just says, Here's the data.  He has not in his affidavit said anything about what it means and, indeed, he hasn't even compared costs.  He has only compared rates.


MR. RODGER:  I thought he was comparing costs in his affidavit, Mr. Chair.


MR. KAISER:  I thought you just said, Mr. Seal, you were comparing costs.


MR. SEAL:  It is the distribution bill impact, the rate impact on Schools.


MR. KAISER:  Does that help, Mr. Rodger?  He's just telling you what the different rates are from the different utilities, end of story.


MR. RODGER:  So the Board should that no implications from this different rate?  I'm really struggling with what meaning, then, does the Board take from this other than, Yes, different utilities have different rates and costs.


MR. SEAL:  I think as I indicated, what our concern is is the difference among the costs, and Toronto District School Board has submitted evidence in your current case with respect to its costs and Toronto Hydro's ‑‑ its cost with Toronto Hydro versus the other utilities.  I'm not speaking to that evidence, obviously.  But this particular comparison was filed, as I said, in this motion because we are concerned about what the implication of a withdrawal of your application might be.


MR. RODGER:  So it isn't necessary to do that, then, Mr. Seal.  I mean, is the Board ‑‑ what is the Board to take from this information?  That would apply to your interim rate scenario.


MR. SEAL:  In simple terms, it's information before the Board that we think is important for the Board to consider in your motion, the difference in the rates, simple as that.


MR. RODGER:  And as Mr. Shepherd has said, there's nothing in your evidence that would -- in any way should be taken by the Board to say that higher costs, for example, mean less efficiencies.  You just can't draw any conclusion like that from your evidence.


MR. SEAL:  No, and I have not attempted to do so.


MR. RODGER:  Those are my questions.  Thank you.


MR. KAISER:  Thank you.  Any other counsel wish to examine this witness?  Thank you, Mr. Seal.  


Mr. Millar, what order do you want to proceed in for the purpose of argument?


MR. MILLAR:  Well, Mr. Chair, this is Toronto Hydro's motion, so obviously they are entitled to go first.  I haven't discussed this with the other intervenors, but it was my intention that I would follow Mr. Rodger, and then we would go through the intervenors.


MR. KAISER:  All right, let's follow them.  Please proceed, Mr. Rodger.


SUBMISSIONS BY MR. RODGER:

MR. RODGER:  Thank you, Mr. Chairman.  Mr. Chairman, you have our motion record dated January 10th, 2006 which comprises the notice of motion and the affidavit of Mr. Zebrowski.


Toronto Hydro has prepared its rate application in reliance upon various rate‑making principles contained in the rate handbook and report.  Both were issued by the Board on May 11th, 2005.  And where Toronto Hydro believed that additional evidence was necessary for a future test year application, it has provided it.


The specific matter before you today, which Toronto Hydro seeks direction and clarification on, is whether Toronto Hydro in selecting a future test year approach, was entitled to rely upon those rate-making principles and the policy framework decided by the Board in the handbook and in the report.  


If Toronto Hydro can rely on the policy framework and policy decisions reflected by the handbook, the applicant is ready to proceed to a hearing tomorrow, assuming your decision is rendered later today.  And this of course is Toronto Hydro's preferred approach.


If, however, Toronto Hydro cannot rely on the policy framework of the handbook in its selection of a future test year as opposed to historic test year option, or if this Panel now believes there are additional rate‑making policies required for future test year filers beyond those contained in the handbook and the report, then Toronto Hydro submits it is not appropriate for it to proceed in its application in its existing form, and that's why we are seeking this clarification now and prior to the commencement of the hearing.


The legal considerations for this motion we submit, sir, go to fundamental principles of administrative law to which this Board is subject, those being the principles of fairness and natural justice.


In considering its approach for '06 rates, Toronto Hydro relied and continues to rely upon the policy decisions of this Board and have prepared its application accordingly.  And you've heard that this morning from Mr. Zebrowski.  However, as a result of certain issues raised by the Board, some of which were decided in other rate application proceedings but which affected Toronto Hydro, the company is no longer confident that what it thought was the established policy framework for its application still applies to Toronto Hydro.


In other words, the company is concerned that the OEB's expectations on it as an applicant have changed since the handbook and report have been issued.  So it is concerned that it is moving, for lack of a better phrase, goal posts in terms of the OEB's requirements.  


In these circumstances, we submit that it is not unreasonable for the OEB to observe fundamental principles of fairness and natural justice by clarifying this matter in order for Toronto Hydro to understand whether it can rely on the policies within the handbook and the report, or whether there are now different or additional standards that need to be met.  And fairness requires that Toronto Hydro be provided with adequate and sufficient time and opportunity to prepare for and respond to that standard.


So, in short, Mr. Chairman, Toronto Hydro is no longer confident what case it must now meet in this application and in our respectful submission, Toronto Hydro requires this clarification before it can proceed to the hearing.


Now, with that overview, I have divided my submissions in the following themes.  Firstly, the OEB's power to promulgate rate making policy; secondly, Toronto Hydro's reliance on the rate-making policies contained in the handbook and the report; and thirdly, Toronto Hydro's view of what has changed and how those changes affect the application.


So firstly, the OEB's power to promulgate rate-making policy.  We submit that this Board has inherent power to promulgate rate-making policy.  Under Section 78 of the OEB Act, the Board has authority to determine just and reasonable rates for distributors, and in doing so, it is guided by the objectives that we're all familiar with in section 1 of the OEB Act.


Now the regulatory construct the OEB has decided to utilize in discharging its responsibilities for the 85 or so remaining LDCs in Ontario for 2006 rates, is by way of the new rate handbook released last May.  This is how the OEB chose to establish the base case or what we've referred to earlier as the default framework for applicants. And the OEB essentially said through this handbook, Here is the policy framework that we have decided.  An applicant can deviate from these policies, but here are the policies for 2006 applications.


Now just to follow up on a point, sir, you raised before the break, perhaps I can clarify that the question that you put to me.  I just like to refer to page 1 of the rate handbook, and just read one paragraph, the second paragraph on page 1, which reads as follows.  This is Chapter 1 of the handbook.



The 2006 handbook is composed of filing requirements and guidelines.  The specific filing requirements that are set out in the 2006 handbook are mandatory and no application will be considered complete until all of these requirements are met.  With respect to the guidelines, it is open to the Board to consider alternative rate-making principles at the request of an applicant, not of an intervener, not of the Board but of an applicant.  Applicants should be aware however that applications, which are not consistent with the 2006 handbook will require a significant length of time to process.


My point here, sir, is that if an applicant is not requesting a change to a rate-making policy in the handbook, then it should apply.  That is the default position.  If an intervener wants to raise, for example, the ROE issue, then in our view, the burden shifts to that intervener as to why the Board rate-making policy should not apply to the applicant.  And in our view, it would be a strong case that's required very good and clear reasons why the Board would depart from its rate-making policy.


However in the contest of this motion, Toronto Hydro still needs to know that it can rely on that default rate-making principle because it used a FTY. And I hope that clarifies the specific question you raised this morning.


MR. KAISER:  Let's suppose Mr. Roger had nothing to do with whether you used a FTY or HTY, let's leave that aside, suppose the position is the same regardless.  You rely, as you did - let's just use this one example - return of equity.  Now I want to deal with this in two parts.  Are you saying that if by relying on that, no one can make that a contested issue?


MR. ROGER:  No, I'm saying they can make it a contested issue, but the burden then shifts to the intervener raising it, to prove or the try and show that the Board should depart from its decided rate-making principle.


MR. KAISER:  But it could become a contested issue, and then it's just an evidentiary rule.


MR. ROGER:  That's correct.


MR. KAISER:  Thank you. That's helps me.


MR. ROGER:  Now, the other side of the coin, the one side being that the Board saying by the handbook, here's 

the policy framework, this is the context we are going to use for 2006 rates; the other side of that is the Ontario Energy Board saying you are entitled to rely on that.  You are entitled to rely on the decisions and rate-making policies contained within this framework, and that that's part of the regulatory compact with applicants.  It is how the Ontario Energy Board can provide regulatory certainty, which is an important component of how the public interest is served and that is that applicants do clearly understand the case they have to meet.


Mr. Zebrowski described this in his cross-examination this morning in understanding the rules of the game.


Now can we look to at example of rate-making policy that this Board has implemented in the past. And at the time of the initial LDC restructuring, you had developed a first rate handbook.  And if you go to paragraph 3 on page 2 of the Notice of Motion, I'll just read the introduction from the first PBR handbook which went as follows.


The Energy Board is responsible for the rate regulation of all electricity distribution utilities in Ontario under the Ontario Energy Board Act.  Section 782 of the Act states that no distributor shall distribute electricity or meet its obligations under section 29 of the Electricity Act except in accordance with the order of the Board.  The electricity distribution rate handbook describes the regulatory framework that the Board will use to administer electricity distribution rates in the province.  The rate handbook outlines the PDR framework, and contains the rate principles, policies and procedures to be used in establishing initial unbundled distribution rates, and subsequently for adjusting rates in year 2 and 3 of the PDR plan.


Toronto Hydro's submission, sir, is that for 2006 rates, the Ontario Energy Board had the same purpose in developing the new handbook so that the distribution sector could understand the policy framework and expectation for this next generation of distribution rates, and the handbook of the report are the end-product or the Board findings on that process that Mr. Zebrowski defined that Toronto Hydro was involved with.


As Mr. Zebrowski said, Toronto Hydro had significant involvement in the development of the handbook, it was talked about earlier in the day.  And Mr. Zebrowski also said that it was on this basis that these were the rules of the game, that Toronto Hydro went ahead and developed its 

application.


And Mr. Zebrowski, on page 9, paragraph 24. listed some 20 plus areas where Toronto Hydro adhered to the handbook, from filing requirements, to debt rates, capital structure, working capital allowance, et cetera.


Now the distinguishing feature is this FTY.  We would note that the Ontario Energy Board itself said that FTY was the preferred approach, and this is noted in paragraph 4 of the notice of motion.


Now, somebody suggested today that in selecting the FTY, this somehow nullify the balance of the handbook.  We could no longer rely really any principle or rate-making policy if we took that approach.  But we disagree with that.


I've already made reference to notes in the rate 

handbook itself, that aspects of the handbook were mandatory for all applications; there was no carve-out for FTY.  Neither the handbook nor the report, in our view, itself, carves out a different approach for future test years beyond what we had described. And our view, sir, after extensive stakeholdering that went on, if it was the Board's intent not to apply the handbook principles to future test years, this would clearly be carved out on page 1.


If you selected a FTY, you did need to show what was different, and this is the phrase, providing evidence commensurate with the application, and in our view, we've done this in Toronto Hydro's case.  And Mr. Zebrowski talked about increased labour costs, higher amortization value, that's what we filed evidence upon.  But to suggest the handbook and the report no longer applicable to future 

test year filers, in our view, is not reasonable.


I would also ask the Board to recollect that the goal of the handbook developed in process, in part, was to achieve consensus amongst stake holders as much as possible. And as Mr. Zebrowski has also mentioned, the fact that the report and the handbook were issued in mid-May, and an application was due on August 1st, it just would be not possible for any utility to start from scratch and develop all the evidence and reports in such a short time.


So our bottom line is that if the rate‑making policies did not apply to future test years, that would have been clearly stated and, as we've indicated, it would be a very, very different application before you today.


Now, what has changed?  And a lot of these points have been made earlier, so I can provide a summary.  But leading up to this hearing, there has been issues raised and decisions made which give us a very different understanding of what the basis was that Toronto Hydro was applying for.  You've heard about the return-on-equity issue, and our view, sir, if you look at the description of this issue in the handbook - and we've quoted it on page 7 and 8 of the affidavit, and that is the decision of the Board with respect to ROE ‑ I think the only conclusion that any reasonable person could take is that this has been the Board's finding, the Board's decision on how its going to proceed with ROE in 2006.  


It was open to Toronto Hydro to suggest a lower or to try and advocate for a higher, but as the base case -- I think it is clear that this is a conclusion of the Board and we relied on that.


Likewise, we talked about distribution line losses, again, how the report and handbook conclude that it will not change the current treatment of line losses.  It will be a pass-through.  But, once again, this is an issue in our case, and, again, that is not something that we anticipated.  


CDM, as well, the Board made a decision not to require additional CDM spending beyond the amount applied for approved CDM plans, but this has also been an issue in another proceeding, but arising out of the 2006 process.  


So in summary, sir, Toronto Hydro finds itself in a situation where it relied upon the policy framework articulated by the Board and in selecting the approach it did.  It's now uncertain about the applicability of what it believed to be settled policy decisions of the Board as they relate to Toronto Hydro's application, and without clarification of this matter, we are concerned that once the hearing commences, there may be other matters which Toronto Hydro relied on the policies of the handbook but may also be challenged, which we thought were settled.  


We mentioned this earlier.  If you look at our issues list, it's very, very broad.  There wasn't one issue that could be settled in the ADR process, and we don't want to put this Board or intervenors in a position where we are being cross-examined on issues - debt rates, whatever - and the answer back every time is we relied on the handbook, we relied on the handbook, if that really isn't what we were entitled to do.  


That is why we are seeking clarification now and prior to the commencement of this proceeding.  And those are our submissions, sir.


MR. KAISER:  Just one question, Mr. Rodger.  You have said in response to my earlier questions that you weren't interpreting the rate handbook to say that any particular matter could not become a contested issue, but there was an evidentiary ‑‑ the burden shifted?


MR. RODGER:  That's correct.


MR. KAISER:  The party seeking a different value, a default value, a base value, whatever you want to call it, that party had the burden.  That much I understand.


Are you also saying, Board, you have made a determination - let's use ROE as an example - that the value should be X, in this case 9 percent.  Intervenors can do what they want.  But you, Board, on your own motion can't change that value.


MR. RODGER:  Yes, I think that's the fairness issue, sir, that if this was a decision that you have already made, then we were entitled to rely on that, and in our case the fact that no other intervenor raised it, that this was imposed on the Board, that made us put up our hands saying, What happened?  That's the difficult position we're in now.


MR. KAISER:  I just want to get your position clear.  You differentiate as to who is -- in addition to the burden shifting, which would apply to any proponent of a different value, intervenor or Board, you're also saying it's unfair for the Board to come along and change its mind in your case, having declared, if you will, a generic value for this matter, for this item?


MR. RODGER:  That's correct.


MR. KAISER:  Thank you.  Mr. Warren, you're next.  


MR. WARREN:  I thought Mr. Millar wanted to --


MR. KAISER:  Mr. Millar.


MR. SHEPHERD:  Mr. Chairman, just as a matter of normal practice, I believe that there may be some counsel in the room who are supporting the motion.  If that is the case, I wonder whether it's appropriate for them ‑‑


MR. KAISER:  Good point, Mr. Shepherd.  Mr. Farrell, are you supporting this?


MR. FARRELL:  I am, sir.


MR. KAISER:  Do you want to go ahead?


SUBMISSIONS BY MR. FARRELL:

MR. FARRELL:  I will be very brief.  Hydro Ottawa takes the same position as Mr. Rodger just articulated in regard to the shifting burden of reliance by the utility on the handbook as being, in effect, the prima facie case, which then shifts the burden of proof to intervenors who wish to challenge in this case the 9.0 percent value for ROE for a 2006 test year.


As you know, part of this issue is a contested issue in the Hydro Ottawa rate case, and, hence, my presence here today to speak in support of that view of the role of the handbook in regard to the ROE issue.  We say the role of the handbook is identical to the line loss issue, which is also a contested issue in the Hydro Ottawa case.  Those are my submissions.


MR. KAISER:  Do you take a different position from Hydro One?  In other words, let's suppose, for the sake of argument, we ruled in favour of this motion.  Would you be back before us asking that we apply to Ottawa? 


MR. FARRELL:  Yes.


MR. KAISER:  Thank you.  Anyone else supporting the applicant?   Mr. Millar?


SUBMISSIONS BY MR. MILLAR:

MR. MILLAR:  Thank you, Mr. Chair.


The rate handbook and the board's report contain several references to the treatment of forward test year applicants, and we've heard a few of them, but I'm going to read a couple more onto the record.  On page 10 of the handbook it states:

"Applicants not wishing to go file on an adjusted historical test year basis may file on a forward test year basis with full supporting documentation."


On page 10 of the report, it states:

"The Board agrees that a forward test year is the preferred approach to setting costs-of-service rates."


And we heard Mr. Rodger read that earlier.  However, the next sentence reads:

"However, the Board has determined that it must establish a practical approach to setting 2006 rates and that a historical test year should be the basis of 2006 rate applications."


A little bit further down on that page, it states:

"If an applicant chooses to apply on a forward test year basis, it must be supply substantial supporting material to justify its projected expenses and revenues.  It is likely that a forward test year application will receive more scrutiny and take longer to process than a historical test year application."


In our submission, the rate handbook and report are clear in making a distinction between forward test year filing and historical test year filings.  In fact, in the applicant's own motion they quote the handbook in this regard.  Paragraph 6, I believe, of Mr. Zebrowski's affidavit, they quote the rate handbook, where it states:

"Applicants must understand that each level of departure from the framework described in the handbook requires further explanation and evidentiary support."


The handbook states that a forward test year-based application cannot rely ‑‑ cannot rely merely on the policies ‑‑ start that again.


The handbook states that a forward test year-based application cannot rely merely on the policies articulated for the filing of a historical test year.  The Board has set out the issues list for this case.  Some issue arise from the fact that Toronto Hydro has not filed a historical test year, as is provided for in the rate handbook -- rate handbook methodologies, or at least as is assumed.


Some issues may require different evidence because the applicant filed a forward test year.  It is our submission that the handbook and report are clear that there will be different evidentiary requirements for forward test year filers and history test year filers. 


The handbook and report talk about substantial supporting material or full supporting material.  What isn't set out in any detail is what exactly "substantial supporting material" means.  However, Board Staff submits that the handbook was designed primarily with the aim of providing a guide for historical test year filers, and I'm quoting here from pages 10 and 11.  It states:

"The guidelines provided in the 2006 handbook relate to historical test year filings as outlined in options 1, 2 and 3 above."


And option 4 there, just for the sake of completeness, was the forward test year option.


That is not to say that the handbook and report are of no relevance to forward test year applicants.  In our submission, there are many rate‑making principals that are common to both the historical and future test year rate setting exercise.  Where there is no reason to deviate from the guidelines that apply to historical test year filers, then they should apply equally do forward test year filers. The handbook should serve as the default position, but where there is reason to deviate from the handbook, the Board may do so.


By way of example, in Chapter 6 of the rate handbook, at page 39, and I don't think you need to turn this up, I am just using it by way of example. It states: Advertising expenses incurred for the primary purpose of promoting corporate branding or image are not to be included in determining the applicant’s 2006 revenue requirement.  Although it is Board staff's understanding the Panel in the Toronto Hydro's rate case would not be bound by this guideline, it appears clear that the same logic should apply to forward test year filers. From Board's Staff point of view, there would be no reason to not apply this particular guideline to forward test year filers.


However, that is not to say that the handbook will automatically in all instances.  Although the handbook says forward test year filers will have to file more evidence, it doesn't say exactly where or how much.  Therefore, the Board must determine on an issue by issue basis the applicability of the handbook to the forward test year application of Toronto Hydro, and whether the evidence filed satisfies the onus on the applicant.


The applicant appears particularly concerned with departures from the rate handbook and the setting of the components in cost of capital.  Presumably, the rate handbook's policies, in respect to the establishment of rates of return, was made with thought to the risks associated with historical test year with predetermined adjustments.  It is not unreasonable, in fact, maybe expected, that if a utility significantly departs from the basis of an historical test year, the question of rate of return could arise.  In this case, the Board has limited its consideration of that to whether the economic indicators is used in the calculation of REO should 

be updated.  What has been left off the table by the Board's issues list is the risk premium. And by which assume the rate handbook figure would apply there.


This approach could be argued to be consistent with the forward test year concept, that is the say, the Board will update the indicators only if it will -- pardon me, that is not to say that the Board will update the indicators, only that it will have that option.  On this issue, parties could address what factors suggest that the forward test year filers, the economic indexes should be updated.


In the final analysis, the Board could decide no update is required, and the calculation in the handbook is appropriate.  However, it would be not be enough for the applicant to simply say, We took the number from the handbook, end of story.  The principles of the handbook will be useful in this analysis, but they are not necessarily determinative.


I think what Toronto Hydro is seeking is certainty.  And it is Board staff's submission that it is not possible until the Board renders its final rates' decision for it to have certainty.


If Toronto Hydro cannot obtain at this stage the certainty it seeks, it has indicated at paragraph 16 of its Notice of Motion that it may choose to withdraw its application.  And I think we may have heard that a possible alternative would be for the Board to adjourn this hearing for the applicant, to allow them more time to file additional evidence if that's required.


However, if there is a withdrawal or delay the 

question arises as to what should happen in the interim.  And we heard a little bit about this before.  I'll make some brief remarks related to this.  


Staff suggests that interim rates should be considered likely set on the basis of the reduction proposed in the current application.  If Toronto Hydro chooses to withdraw its application, the Board can exercise its authority under section 19, sub 4, of the Act to commence a proceeding on its own motion to determine rates for Toronto Hydro, and seek interim rates for May 1st as an a first step in that proceeding.


Either way, the consideration of Toronto Hydro's application can proceed with a more substantial evidentiary base, if that is required, and the ratepayers will not be prejudice by any delay.  Subject to any questions you might, Mr. Chair, those are Board staff's submission.


MR. KAISER:  Just one question, Mr. Millar.  It's the last question I raised with Mr. Roger.  One of the things that's unique about this situation is that -- and I'm just using return of equity as an issue - but essentially it 

rose and got put on the contested list on the Board staff's own motion, as I understand it. 


MR. MILLAR:  If I recall, it was -- maybe I'll 

just provide a little of background.  It actually arose in the Ottawa case. 


MR. KAISER:  Yes I know, but with respect to Toronto, it wasn't a live issue until Board staff came along and said we want it an issue. 


MR. MILLAR:  I think that's fair.


MR. KAISER:  And Mr. Roger has lots of arguments, but one of the intriguing arguments to me is that leaving aside this burden of proof and whether people with historical years are treated different than people with forward test years, the Board and the handbook is made in the nature of a generic decision, a default value, and that the return of equity will be X, and he says it's unfair, and it's not keeping with proper regulatory policy for the Board to come on a selected case and change its mind, be the advocate of a different position, as opposed to say if an intervener did.  Do you have any view on that?   


MR. MILLAR:  Thank you.  I think there is a number of different ways to look at that.  The first is - and I quoted you a portion of the handbook, and of course, will not be able to find it now that I am looking for it again.  I'm sorry, this is the quote from pages 10 and 11. It says:

“The guidelines provided in the 2006 handbook relate to historical test year filing's as outlined in options 1, 2 and 3 above.”  


So, perhaps a way to look at that would be to suggest that on the issue of REO, it was the Board's position that it is possible that these guidelines set up for historical test year filer would not apply to a forward test year filer, and therefore, the Board is always entitled to add an issue to the issues list.  So, I guess that's an indication from the Board, and perhaps it puts the applicant on warning that it may be considering this issue.  I think when we look at the issue of fairness and procedural fairness, I think perhaps the Board has done just that, they did allow Toronto Hydro to make written submissions on whether or not that should be an issue.


Toronto Hydro argued that it should not be, but after considering those submissions, the Board determined it would become an issue.  I think perhaps what the Board has said is that for forward test year filers, at least when it comes with regard to the economic indicators but not the risk premium, the Board feels that's it is possible that it will not be applying the rate handbook to forward test year filers.


MR. KAISER:  That leads to another question which is - I don't want to put words in your mouth - but it may be that this return of equity is a bit of a unique cat in this exercise.


The line loss thing is a general policy, and you can argue why would it be any different if you had a forward year or historical year.


In the case of this return of equity, as you are now describing, there are certain elements that are by its very nature updated, mechanically, as opposed to some of the broader parameters that would determine return of equity. So are you really saying if you go to a forward test year, we are updating, say, labour costs, it's only fair even though the handbook may be a bit ambiguous, in those cases where there is an automatic updating component, such as return of equity, to update at the same time.  


In other words, do you treat this return of equity item a bit different in terms of these broad principles as opposed to say other than items in the rate handbook?


MR. MILLAR:  Which other items are you thinking about?


MR. KAISER:  Any of them.  Used by way of example, the line loss.  The line loss is a principle, either pass it on all or do this or do that.  But this return of equity has some components and some of them are usually updated 

every year.  So are you trying to argue here that the return on equity is a bit of a "unique situation".


MR. MILLAR:  It is the only area where the Board chose to add an issue, if I can put that way.


MR. KAISER:  In other words, this applicant is asking for a broad ruling; they want certainty as to what this handbook means and so on.  That's one thing.  The very specific issues here is this return of equity.  Is there a case that return of equity is a bit unique, and however vague the handbook might have been, that a forward test year filer should expect that certain elements of their return of equity would be updated, just as they are updating some of their revenues.


MR. MILLAR:  They are talking about matching, essentially. And that's the point Mr. DeVellis , I think, he touched on that as well:  Yes, I would agree on that.


MR. KAISER:  Thank you.  Mr. Warren.


SUBMISSIONS BY MR. WARREN:


MR. WARREN:  Thank you sir.  The relief, which is sought in this application, consists of the following elements:  


Toronto Hydro wants a reversal of the ruling made on Issues Day about the relationship between handbook filings and the forward test year filings.  Secondly, it wants a reversal of your decision to add REO to the issues list.  Thirdly, it wants a determination before the evidence is heard that the ROE will be 9 percent.  Mr. Rodger has shifted his position within the scope of this application this morning.  Mr. Zebrowski was clear in cross‑examination, in response to my question, that they want the Board to determine in advance that the return-on-equity level is 9 percent.


Mr. Rodger, in response to your question, said he is content that it be a contestable issue, with the onus on the intervenors to show why there should be a different number.  And I think it's incumbent on the Board -- I apologize.  It is incumbent on Mr. Rodger to say what his position is, because the risk in this is that we will get to a fully contested hearing and Mr. Rodger will say that the effect of your ruling today is that 9 percent is the number.  


I don't believe Mr. Rodger would have brought this motion if all he wanted was to parse the question of who had the onus of proof in this case.  He wants something more.  Mr. Zebrowski said it.  He wants you to determine today that it's 9 percent.  And in our respectful submission, that would be inappropriate for you to do that for the reasons which I'll express.


Now, what are the implications of the relief that my friend has asked for?  First of all, one of the implications, if the relief he's asking for is granted, is that Toronto Hydro alone among the applicants, the LDCs, can choose to rely on the handbook where it wants, and then can deviate where it wants.  It can use historical data for its ROE, but it can use current data for other categories.  And that, in my respectful submission, is not fair.  It's not fair to all of the other applicants who have filed either on an historical basis or on a forward test year basis.


In addition, I submit that the iron logic of what he's asking for is that there is no contestable issue where the handbook is followed.  Mr. Rodger argues that in support of the 9 percent figure, Toronto Hydro relied on the handbook.  That is an argument about the status of the handbook.  You can't have it both ways.  You can't have it as a guideline and as a determinative of the issue of what the ROE level is.  It's one or the other.


I underscore the point that if we go forward with a Board determination, that it's a contestable issue.  Let me go to the point you raised, Mr. Kaiser, when you said to him, Is it okay, Mr. Rodger, in your argument that it can be a contestable issue with the onus having shifted?  


What is Mr. Rodger's argument in that context?  He says you can lead whatever evidence you want, intervenor, but the Board has determined that I am entitled to rely on the handbook.  What does it mean to rely on the handbook if it isn't that it's determinative of the 9 percent?


If you look back to your decision on the EDR, the 9 percent figure was an ease of reference.  It was a default position, because it was the easiest thing for the vast majority of applicants to do.  It was not a determination that in every case under every circumstance, regardless of the evidence, regardless of whether it's a forward test year filing, 9 percent is the right number.  But that's the logic of what Mr. Rodger wants you to do, and that's the danger.  


If you were to say it's a contestable issue but the onus shifts to the intervenors, the intervenors cannot overcome the onus, because Mr. Rodger would say the handbook has, what, decided this issue.


The other implication of this is that you cannot separate the circumstances of Toronto Hydro from the circumstances of Ottawa Hydro and Hydro One, because if it is the case that the 9 percent has been determined in the handbook - it's not just a policy or a guideline floor a default position; it is what the ROE is to be regardless of the evidence - then that circumstance, as Mr. Farrell has acknowledged, applies to him and it has to apply next door, tomorrow morning, in Hydro One Networks.  It can't be any different.  It has to apply fairly across the board.


I say, with respect, that the idea that Toronto Hydro wants direction in this case is just nonsense.  They don't want direction.  They want a decision that 9 percent is the number.  Toronto Hydro has known from your analysis, Mr. Kaiser, on November 10th, how the Board was think about the interplay between the handbook and the forward test year filing.  It knew that there was an issue about the extent to which it could rely on the handbook.  That gave it all the direction it needed.  


If it had any ambiguity about that, it was underscored in this explicit ruling on the point, the Hydro Ottawa case, and if it needed any further confirmation of that, it got it when it made submissions on whether it should be an issue in its case and the Board ruled it should be.


So there was no question about wanting a direction, needing a direction about the interplay.  It wants a decision and it wants a decision about the ROE levels, and that's what this application is about.


In my respectful submission, Mr. Millar has made the point that the handbook is clear.  He cited the quote on page 10 of the handbook, which says these guidelines apply to historical test year filings; they do not apply to forward test year filings.


Now, in my respectful submission, the fundamental flaw in the logic of Toronto Hydro is that he misconstrues what the handbook is about.  The handbook is not a determination that if you follow these filing requirements, you will get this relief.  It's not a determination that if you file this information, your rates will be what you've applied for.  It says you can apply in this manner filing this information, but whether your rates will be what follows out of those numbers is for the Board to determine and intervenors can contest those numbers, as a number of intervenors have consisted them in a number of historic test year filings.


So Toronto Hydro proceeds from the logic that the handbook is determinative of substantive issues, and I say, with respect, it's not.  In my respectful submission, the Board should not grant the relief that's being asked for.  Let's be clear, Mr. Chairman.  In my respectful submission, what Mr. Rodger is asking for in this case is not to clarify ambiguity.  He wants a predetermination of a substantive issue before the evidence is led, in addition to which, in addition to which -- and I would invite the members of the Panel to read with particular care his prayer for relief in the supporting affidavit, because it very subtlely asks the Board to determine in advance the adequacy of his filing.  Have I filed enough information to meet the forward test year filing?  That's what you are being asked to do in this prayer for relief, and that the Board should not do before it hears the evidence.


When my friend talks about fairness, surely it would be fundamentally unfair for the Board to predetermine a case without having heard the evidence and heard the cross‑examination and the submissions of the opposing parties.


Let me turn finally to the reasons I submit the Board should not grant this relief.


This is, in effect, an appeal from an earlier ruling.  It's an appeal from a ruling in which the Board said this should be a contested issue.  Let me an address, Mr. Kaiser, the fairness issue which has been raised.  As I understand Mr. Rodger's argument, it's unfair for the Board to put an issue on the list, because that somehow predetermines the way it thinks about it.


The logic of that, if you parse it, is to say that it's unfair for the Board to put it on the issues list because the Board has already determined the issue in the handbook.  It would be silly to argue that the Board isn't at liberty to put any issue on the issues list it wants.  Of course it has that power.  It has a broader statutory obligation to protect the public with respect to rates, and so the Board can say, I want to hear this issue.  


The only way in this there is a fairness issue, the logic of this argument, is if the Board were to say, I'm going to put this on the issue and we have already -- having already predetermined that it should be 9 percent in the handbook, we are now going to reverse that position and we're going to put it in the handbook.  But you didn't do that.  All you did was say this is an issue.  We are not making any decision.  It's clearly set out in the transcript:  We are not making any decision about what the number should be.  It's simply a contestable issue.  There is no issue of fairness at all with respect to your putting ‑‑ if there were any issue, you gave an opportunity for Mr. Rodger to say why it shouldn't be on. He made submissions. That is the best we can hope for, that we have an opportunity to respond to the case and we have.  And Mr. Roger has ample opportunity to respond in the course of this case to what the appropriate level of REO should be.


I say, this is in effect an appeal from an earlier ruling, and it doesn't meet the criteria of an appeal.  There is no new evidence, no indication that you were wrong in your decision to put this on the issues list.


The second reason is that if a party is unhappy with the decision to put an issue on an issue's list and has an opportunity to make those submissions, there should be 

some end of to it.  There should be some finality.  And there isn't any finality, if every time we are unhappy with a decision, we say, I want one more kick at the can.  All of these issues have been argued at some length before.  But the most important of the issues by a substantial measure, is that the Board should not predetermine an issue in advance of hearing the evidence, and that's what you are being asked to do.


I come back to the point, Mr. Kaiser, I'll address it friendly.  If it is a contestable issue, but the onus shifts, what is Mr. Rodger's argument.  His argument is that the Board has decided that it should be 9 percent.  Now, if that's the case that the Board has decided it should be 9 percent, it's no longer a contestable issue.  The shift in onus is an artificial one.  It's bogus.


In my respectful submission, Mr. Chairman, the Board should deny the relief asked for and say, This is a contestable issue, that the onus lies on Toronto Hydro to demonstrate that 9 percent is the appropriate REO figure, to file updated evidence as it filed elsewhere.  The interveners can say, It should be that figure or some other figure, but you shouldn't be seduced today into saying that somehow the rate handbook is binding, it's simply a guideline.  It's not binding on any substantive issue. In my respectful submission, the Board should not provide relief that my friend has asked for.  


On the issue of what he should do in the future, that's entirely up to him; it's his call.  Those are my submissions.  Thank you.


MR. KAISER:  Thank you, Mr. Warren.  Mr. Shepherd.


SUBMISSIONS BY MR. SHEPHERD:


MR. SHEPHERD:  Thank you, Mr. Chairman.


In our submission, there are either two or three questions for the Board to answer here depending on your decision on the first one. And the first one, it seems to us, presented by the motion, is does the handbook establish default rules that apply to a forward test year like Toronto Hydro's application, such that if they wish to follow any particular handbook rule, it is either conclusive or it reverses the onus on the issue.


If the answer to that question is yes, in our view, the handbook is determinative of issues, then in our submission, the Board has to go back to the issues list that is already determined, and change that issues list to identify only the issue that's are left after that rule has been applied.


If the answer to the first question however is no, then the Board must ask itself what should we do about it, should we adjourn, should we allow the withdrawal, et cetera.  And if the answer is an adjournment or withdrawal then, the Board has to ask what are the appropriate interim rates on May 1st.


The most important question, obviously, is the first one.  We agree with Mr. Warren, and I got probably others that the essence of this application is the applicant wants to cherry pick the guidelines in the handbook.  They say they can choose which of the rule necessary the handbook should apply to them, and ask for something different in any case that they don't like what the handbook says.  And in fact, that's what they have done.  They seek to rely on the handbook for things that would keep the revenue requirement up, but make just a few changes that, as we heard this morning, will result in a revenue requirement that is higher than I thought would otherwise have been if they had followed the handbook exactly.  


In our submission, that number is $24 million but as saw, the witness wasn't able to tell us about his own evidence.


It's clear that the handbook was intended to be a 

set of rules that fit together.  It was an efficient shortcut, and there were a lot of trade offs that went on in that process.  A lot of situations in which rate payer groups and utility said -- and indeed the Board in its decision -- said let's get a practical answer and these things will balance each other out.


If you then allow Toronto Hydro or anybody for that matter, to come in and say, Well we like all the rules in the handbook except these two, then the handbook no longer works.  In fact, why would we have the lengthy debate as we did on tier one adjustments if any applicant can come in and say, Well we don't like the tier one adjustments that are allowed, so we want another one.  We want labour rates, for example, we want a tier one adjustment for labour rates.  Okay so we can't do it -- can't file historical and get that, so we'll file forward test year, but we still want the benefit as if we were filing on a historical basis.  All that side of it. We just want the increase in Toronto Hydro's case, $24 million, from the changes that we don't like, the things we don't like.


Mr. Chair, you raised the question earlier, and there's been some discussion about it, whether you could have the handbook as a default, but interveners could contest them and then, the suggestion is made by Mr. Roger, well if that's the case, then the onus shifts.  Our problem with that -- we have two problems with that.  The most fundamental problem is, it is well accepted, has been the case as long as I been appearing before this Board, 20 odd years, it has long been accepted that the onus is on the applicant in a rate case, and never leaves the applicant.


If the Board had intended in the rate handbook to change that rule for anything, it would seem to us that the Board would probably have said so, because it's one of those rule that's nobody doubts.  Nobody comes into this to a hearing room in a rate cay thinking, I wonder where the onus will be today.  Everybody knows where the onus is and where it always is.


Now the Board can make a binding decision shifting the onus.  You are, yourself, hearing a generic proceeding on CDM, and you could say - this is a hypothetical, it is not even our position - but, you could say, We're not going to require an LDC to lead a budget in excess of third -- for CDM, but we will allow interveners to lead evidence that they should spend more, but in that case, we will impose an onus on the intervener to show why an exception can be made.  You can do that, you have to power to do that, but in our submission, you would only do it, it is only proper if you do it, expressively.  That is not done in this case. Look at the practical matter, as well, as the supposed reversal of onus.  The handbook, as you've said yourself, is not intended to be a binding precedent, and we all understood that.  Mr. Rodger had a slightly different view of it, but it's clear that everybody else thought that the handbook was a guideline.  And so none of us thought that we had to file evidence to challenge any of the defaults in the handbook.  If Mr. Rodger filed a forward test year application, it's a rate case.


We do lots of rate cases.  We understand how they work, they have the onus. We can then challenge it either by evidence or by cross-examination, testing the company's evidence.


In practice, what interveners normally do - not all the time, but 99 percent of the time, is use cross-examination because otherwise, these hearings would be so 

long, so unwielding and so costly, they would neither get done.  So instead, we test their evidence instead of having a battle of the experts.


In this case, what my friend would say to you, decide if the onus shifts, and by the way, time for evidence has passed for the interveners, tough luck guys.
That's not right.


Let me just deal with two specific comments on 

this first question before I get to the other issues. On REO, Toronto Hydro has said it's important that they have certainty.  The markets require it.  That's why they are asking in this particular case in the case of REO, for the 

Board to determine 9 percent.  Well, you know, I don't know why Toronto Hydro would need certainty but Enbridge, which does rate cases every year, it doesn't need certainty.  It gets whatever number is calculated.  The markets understand perfectly well how the calculation is done, and they get it just before their rate year starts.  Why would Toronto Hydro be different?  Do the markets look at them differently than they look at Enbridge or any other regulated utility in Ontario?  I don't think so.


The other comment on ROE, though, which I think is an important one for the Board to keep in mind, is Mr. Warren says the company is asking for a decision on ROE, and I think that's right; they are.  But it's important, in our view, for the Board to focus on the scope of the motion and the fact that ROE is not the issue here.  The company is not saying, Please set 9 percent ROE.  It's saying, Fix in place everything in the handbook now.  Don't let ‑‑ tell the intervenors, tell the ‑‑ accept as the Board Panel that you are not going to consider anything if they relied on the handbook.


So I'll give you an example.  Page 43 of the handbook, the filing requirements are set out for expenses, distribution expenses paid to affiliates.  Toronto Hydro spends something like -- I think it's 25 percent of their distribution expenses are paid to affiliates.  All of the people in this room are paid by an affiliate.


What they have done is they have filed the minimum that the handbook requires for affiliate payments.  And, in our submission, the reason for that is -- the reason why the handbook says that -- and it was heavily debated in the course of the EDR process.  The reason for that is that for most utilities, the amount of the affiliate transactions, the materiality is relatively low and the straightforward explanation asked for in the handbook is enough.  


In this case, it will be the position of many of the intervenors, I think, that that information is not enough, and Toronto Hydro, for example, has not said how their cost allocation system works, what the base expenses are, any of that stuff you would see in a normal rate case.


That's just one example.  There are many other examples like that.


Before I get to the final question, let me just deal with the collateral issue which you raised, Mr. Chairman, and that is:  Is there a different rule where the Board wants to add something to the issues list as opposed to an intervenor?  Is there somehow something special that happened here because the Board said, We want to talk about ROE?  


In our submission, the response of the company sort of misses the point here.  The Board puts everything on the issues list.  Nothing goes on the issues list because I want it on the issues list.  Things go on the issues list because the Board says whoever told them -- suggest it, the Board said, We think this is something that we need to hear to set just and reasonable rates.  So the fact that it wasn't my idea or Mr. DeVellis' of Mr. Warren's is completely irrelevant.  


The fact is the Board put it on the issues list; that's the end of the matter.  The Board didn't change its mind; just put something on the issues list.  It says: To set just and reasonable rates we need to answer this question.


Now, finally, what should the Board do about this?   Well, we have already sort of telegraphed our position on this.  We believe that the Board should adjourn this application and allow Toronto Hydro to file additional information, because it's quite clear their application is sparse.  Indeed, the whole underlying implication of their motion is, We, Toronto Hydro, understand we didn't file enough, but we did it by mistake.  We misunderstood the handbook.  And so if, in fact, the handbook isn't binding, doesn't give us this certainty, then we need to file more.  


Well, they are right.  They do need to file more.  There's lots of gaps in their evidence, big holes you could drive a truck through, and to meet their onus, they need to file more stuff.  So we agree they should be allowed to adjourn and file the stuff they need to file.  


That leaves the final question, Well, what about rates on May 1st, 2006?  Mr. Millar has suggested that interim rates should be put in place, which we agree, and that they should be at the level applied for by Toronto Hydro; that is, a 5 percent decrease, roughly.


In our view, that's not appropriate.  The essence of that argument is that Toronto Hydro, by complaining that it misunderstood the handbook, gets the rates it asked for on May 1st.  That's not appropriate in our view.  The appropriate answer is to say, If we ‑‑ if you had just followed the default in the handbook all the way through, what rates would you have gotten?   They can run the model.  It's not complicated.  Well, it is complicated, but it can be done.  


And those rates, which appear to us to provide for an 11 percent decrease in rates, should be implemented on May 1st, 2006.  That will also, I might add, motivate Toronto Hydro to come back as quickly as possible, if they think they need more, as opposed to coming back in November.  If they get what they are asking for, what I think will happen is they will come back in November saying, Well, here's our application with more support for what you already gave us May 1st, and, by the way, we've been spending at that level for half a year already.  


In our view, that's not the appropriate answer.  The appropriate answer is to give them what they would have gotten had they followed the plain vanilla historical year filing.  Those are our submissions.


MR. KAISER:  Thank you, Mr. Shepherd.  Mr. Dingwall?


SUBMISSIONS BY MR. DINGWALL:

MR. DINGWALL:  Thank you.  [inaudible] legal topics of what goes in the handbook and what doesn't.  I'm looking more in my comments at what are the practical considerations that we need to address in dealing with, on the hand, what Toronto Hydro is suggesting, and on the other hand we need procedural certainty and ratepayer protection.


I do have one observation with respect to the development of the EDR, though, and that is that the over the years, there are other mechanistic calculations within the handbook that have been updated as a matter of simple Board direction, such as the deemed debt rate.  And had the Board updated or changed its determination of the ROE in that same methodology, we wouldn't be here.  


So it seems to me sort of a practical consideration that the Board would have the ability to change something as simple as an ROE, a mechanistic calculation, and obviously not the risk premium, because that's been stated in past proceedings as coming up possibly for the year 2008, but the other calculations is something the Board could deal with.  And if they had done so on paper, we wouldn't be here today.


With respect to where we go, what we are faced with is a situation where Toronto Hydro is coming to the Board seeking a rate reduction, which is very important to ratepayers.  My client's constituents certainly have some value in that proposal.  But we have a situation where there appears to be a consensus that the application is insufficient for a full determination to be made.


So we have two suggestions, one of which is Mr. Millar's suggestion that the interim rates proceed on the basis of what was filed for or Mr. Shepherd's suggestion that there be an alternate calculation.  It seems to me that the motivation approach might be the best, and that comes back to ROE and what we do with ROE, because ROE is of course an element of what would be contained within the interim rate. 


The calculations as they relate to ROE are based on a couple of simple economic indicators.  When those calculations are reviewed, there are references to consensus forecasts, various bank rates.  Occasionally outlying institutions might be removed from the calculation, but it has not been in any process that I've seen something which has taken a great deal of time.  And perhaps an addressment of the ROE through a simple mechanistic function in the near term might assist towards providing some of the rate relief that was intended by Toronto Hydro in filing for a reduction.


So with respect, then, to the suggested method, we concur with Mr. Shepherd in his analysis as to how to get the base rate.  We encourage the Board to move a little bit more quickly with respect to the determination of the ROE.  I don't think there should be that much involved in preparing for that aspect.  


We do agree that the balance of the proceeding to be taking place, there is insufficient information and some form of adjournment, provided that there can be an appropriate rate.  Those are my submissions.


MR. KAISER:  Thank you, Mr. Dingwall.  Mr. Adams?


MR. ADAMS:  Mr. Chairman, I wonder if I could have permission to go after Mr. DeVellis.  There was a discussion going on.


MR. KAISER:  Mr. DeVellis, are you ready to proceed?


SUBMISSIONS BY MR. DeVELLIS:


MR. DEVELLIS:  Thank you, Mr. Chair. I won't repeat the arguments made by other interveners and Board staff.  I'm in substantially agreement with them.  In our view, the handbook is clear, in particular the passages read to you by Mr. Millar, that is the guidelines are to apply only to historical test year filers, and not to forward test 

year filers.  And in our view, if any context is needed to clear words in the handbook, that should be the normal regulatory practice with respect to forward test year applications.  And that is that applicants need -- have the onus of justifying all aspects of their revenue requirement, so the passage at page 10 of the handbook which says forward test year filers must file full supporting documentation commensurate with the nature of the application. What that means in the context of normal regulatory practice is that the applicant needs to justify all aspects of its revenue requirement.


And the specific passages quoted in Mr. Zebrowski's affidavit with respect to, for example, the need to update the REO passage, I suggests it's not necessary to update the REO should be read in that context, that the Board had already decided that the guidelines would not apply to forward test year filers, so wouldn't necessarily address a forward test year filers in every specific aspects of the guidelines.


With respect to Mr. Roger's alternative suggestion that the onus -- that the issue remain on the issues list but did onus shifts to interveners or others to make alternative arguments, I would agree with Mr. Shepherd and others, that the onus in a forward year application or any rate application remains with the applicant.  So that suggestion, in our view, is inappropriate.


Those are our submissions subject to any questions.


MR. KAISER:  Thank you, Mr. Adams?


MR. ADAMS:  Thank you, Mr. Chair.


SUBMISSIONS BY MR. ADAMS:


MR. ADAMS:  Energy probe is in substantial agreement with the submissions he received from the other ratepayer groups, and except for one submission that I'll make to you a little bit later.  But I should say at the outset that we're troubled by the timing of this application, and it seems to have come very late in the day and put us in a difficult position from the point of view of preparation and consideration of the argument that are there.


It seems as if Toronto Hydro has not completely thought through its position here.


We are also troubled by the suggestion from Mr. Roger that discussion of the consequences of withdrawal ought to be deferred.  In his motion, he approaches the subject of withdrawal of his application, and yet, he was presenting an argument earlier in his submissions to you that the consequences of that ought to be considered at some future time.  He wasn't clear on how that would take place.  That submission further suggests to us that Toronto Hydro has not fully thought through the consequences of the motion that they brought before you.


I want to specifically endorse the comments of Mr. Warren with regard to how Toronto Hydro has enjoyed a thoroughly fair process here.  We do not detect any unfairness visited upon the applicant in this case.


On the question of whether the handbook is determinative, I want to specifically endorse the comments of Mr. Shepherd, the handbook is a guideline, the onus remains with the applicant.


The only departure from the submissions we've received is with regard to Mr. Shepherd's suggestion that Toronto Hydro ought to be allowed an adjournment to provide an opportunity to provide additional information.  Our concern there is that following this advice might in an ideal world might give a better ultimate decision, but in terms of the total context of the challenges that the Board faces and the applicant in terms of its need for timely decisions, it might be better to simply pursue the hearing and allow the hearing to reveal the completeness or otherwise of the application that's before you.


I don't think that we've -- I certainly don't feel I'm in a position now to thoroughly advise you as to where the specific deficiencies might arise in the application that's been presented.  And I think that the hearing that we're just on the cusp of entering into would provide a better basis if the evidence reveals at that point significant deficiencies. That's the best I can do.  


MR. KAISER:  Through, Mr. Adams.  Mr. Roger, any reply?   


MR. ROGER:  Just a few comments, sir.


REPLY SUBMISSIONS BY MR. ROGER:


I think what you have before you today is an example of just a fundamentally different world view of what has happened to lead up to the 2006 application: The process leading up to the handbook, importance of the handbook, and the approach that the utilities have taken to this, and the approach that the interveners have taken to this.


Mr. Warren describes how we're seeking being a reversal or repeal.  Our view would be, we are simply seeking confirmation of a decision that you already made last May in the handbook and the report.  So just a fundamentally different context of what's brought us here today.


I do agree with my friends, however, we do seek clarity and certainty.  Either the handbook and those principle's by to us as a future test year filer or they don't.  And we really do seek that.


I would note, however, it's interesting that Hydro One and Hydro Ottawa, the two other future test year filers, have the same reliance, at least on the REO issue as we did.  So it wasn't as if Toronto Hydro was here on its own. It was all future test year filers that chose that option.  I would add that there's no incentive from Toronto Hydro to try and abandon this in terms of the work done.  You've heard comments how the evidence is inefficient and so on, but the bottom line is, and I mentioned earlier, is that if the handbook is ruled to apply to us, we're set to have our hearing starting tomorrow and we're confident we've produced all the evidence we need to meet the test within the handbook in that context.


The idea that if you granted the relief that we seek, I think this was maybe Mr. Warren's submission, that somehow you basically deferred your discretion on that, you predetermined the outcome on some of these policies.  I would just suggest if that is the case then, how could this Board establish binding rules for historical test years.  It seems like my friends can't ever it both ways. On the one hand, nothing you do in the handbook is binding, but on the other handbook, for historic test years, rate of return, all the other issues are clear and can't be challenged.  So it seems to me there is a disconnect in that approach of one being so black and white, and the other not.  


Just in terms of timing of this motion, is it ideal?   No.  But as you heard Mr. Zebrowski say, the company has been extremely busy, and the Board is well aware of the schedule that we've had to meet over the course of the fall lead being to the Christmas holidays with the last hearing could menacing some three days before Christmas.  We would have liked to have this done sooner, but we have just been stretched in terms of capacity to meet everything that has come before us, including the CDM proceeding, our own EDR and the generic hearing. 

Now, in terms of what next steps might be, and I don't want to present judge your decision today, sir, but if it turns out that you cannot give us a clear indication that the rate handbook applies or you say, frankly, that the handbook doesn't apply to Toronto Hydro and you should have started from a clean slate, if that is your decision - and I mentioned this earlier on - Toronto Hydro would have taken a fundamentally different approach to this application.  And if that is the decision of you today, then my instructions are to withdraw the application and we do not believe that you have to deal, nor would it be appropriate to deal, with what would happen hereon in in this forum.  


In that scenario, what we would do is we would meet with senior management tomorrow, we would discuss the outcome of this case, and then we would report back to the Board and Board Staff over the next days as to how we intend to proceed.


As I say, our first choice is to proceed with the hearing tomorrow, but if we do have to withdraw, we would do that today and request that not make any order on what may happen until we have a chance to meet with our client and get some instructions.  And those are our submissions, sir.


MR. KAISER:  One question, Mr. Rodger.  Let me just preface this by saying I think the Panel understands, generally speaking, that this is not a perfect world.  The Board has been trying to grapple with a procedure that would provide certainty on the one hand and fairness on the other in dealing with multiple rate applications.  And it was just a matter of time until we were going to have to define exactly what this guideline meant and exactly what it didn't.  So I don't think anyone faults you or your client for bringing this.


On the other hand -- and this is not dealing actually with your motion, just that I want you to discuss this with your client.  And this is sort of in a broad sense of fairness, because nobody is going to argue that our job isn't to fix just and reasonable rates in the broadest sense.  


You apply.  You are entitled to a forward test year, and that allows you to use, for instance, current labour costs as opposed to last year's labour costs, and so there's advantage to a utility.  That's why a utility likes a forward test year.  And you are quite right, the Board in the handbook said forward test years are ideal.  I mean, more current data is better than dated data, but in order to ease the application process for a number of utilities, they said, Okay, you can use '04 data instead of '06 data.


So, anyway, you opt, as you have, for a forward test year.  Then it seems to me, cutting through all of this, aside from what happened in Ottawa and Hydro One, Board Staff essentially comes along -- and I'm putting words in their mouth.  They didn't actually say this, but, We got this ROE.  This is really actually Mr. Dingwall's point, who actually puts it best.  There are certain mechanistic aspects -- in fact, he argues you do it as part of setting interim rates, which is not a bad idea, I suppose.  You say, Listen, if we had known that you were going to interpret the handbook this way, we would have done everything differently.  


Let's suppose - and I don't say this is the case - the only difference was updating the ROE in this mechanistic aspect.  Are you really saying you would have done everything differently?   And with that, consider whether that's not a possible adjustment that you could agree to.  


I don't know what the result is.  I'm just talking about the adjustment.  It's not months of work.  It's not loading on your client going back to the drawing board and redoing everything and coming back with a new rate application, and so on and so forth.  It's doing one little simple exercise, and that might allow us to get on with this case.


We're going to come back at 2:30 and enter our decision, but I would be grateful if you can get instructions on that point.  That might help us in our decision.


MR. RODGER:  I'll do that, sir.  Thank you.


--- Recess at 1:05 p.m.


---On resuming at 2:30 p.m.
DECISION:

MR. KAISER:  Please be seated.  This is a Ruling with respect to the Notice of Motion brought and filed by Toronto Hydro on January 10th and heard this morning.  In that Notice of Motion the Applicant, Toronto Hydro, seeks an Order determining whether the filing requirements, guidelines and rate‑making principles decided by the Board in its 2006 electricity distribution rate handbook, and the May 11th, 2005 Report of the Board with respect to that handbook, applied to Toronto Hydro's forward test year application for 2006 Electricity Distribution Rates to the extent that Toronto Hydro relied upon them in its Application.


In considering this motion, which is a significant one, the Board is aware of its fundamental obligation is to fix just and reasonable rates.  It's also aware that to the extent possible - and this is set out at page 29 of the Board's Report - that it should use the best available data.  It's also mindful that it needs to promote regulatory efficiency, which is a significant challenge in this sector, given that the Board is faced by filings of some 85 utilities.  Finally, but not least, it's important that the applicant, and, for that matter, all parties, be dealt with fairly.  


And, as the Applicant says in this case, it must know the case that it needs to meet, the evidence it's required to file and the burden of proof it's required to meet.


When we look at the Application and the affidavit filed in support, it's clear that the issue most troubling to the applicant relates to return on earnings.  Some background is useful before we deal with the substantive issues here.


This issue really arose from the Board's Procedural Order on December 8th in this proceeding.  In that Procedural Order the Board made a finding to include return on equity as an issue in this rate case.  That was over the objections of the utility.  The Board did that following similar findings in two other related cases, those dealing with Ottawa Hydro and Hydro One.


The Applicant says it filed its case on the basis that it was entitled to assume that the return on equity would be that set out in the handbook; namely, 9 percent.  Therefore, it has made that argument today which breaks down to a number of different categories.


First of all, there's a suggestion that given the handbook statements and the utility's reliance on the handbook, particularly that aspect with respect to return on equity, that return on equity cannot be a contested issue; That is to say, the Board erred in its Procedural Order December 8th in adding that as an issue, particularly in this case because it wasn't added as an issue by any of the parties, but, rather, was added by the Board on its own motion.  


The Applicant attaches some significance to the fact that not only was this issue made an issue in the hearing over its objections, but in fact the proponent, was the Board Staff.


Then there's an evidentiary question.  Toronto Hydro says that they are not required to call evidence because of the position set out in the handbook.  That is to say they can rely on the handbook and the 9 percent.  

Then there's a third issue which has come up in this motion this morning, which is that even if it was a contested issue, there would be a different burden of proof; that those challenging the position in the handbook would be required to displace it.  In other words, there would be a shifting burden of proof from the applicant to the intervenors or Board Staff or whoever it was proposing a position different than the handbook position.


Before we deal with those issues, it is worth addressing the unfairness claim made by the applicant.  The applicant says, “we would have presented an entirely different case if we knew we could not rely on the handbook”.  And when they say relying on the handbook, what they really mean is --  They are asking this Panel to find at this point in time, without hearing any evidence, that the return on equity in this case, (the Toronto Hydro case), is 9 percent, because that's what is set out in the handbook.   And they say they relied upon that in presenting their case.  


It's worth pointing out that all of the written material, all of the December 2nd submissions and all of the January 10th motion deals with this return-on-equity issue.  And it's worth pointing out that what Board Staff are proposing to be an issue is simply whether there should be certain mechanistic updates with respect to that number.  They are not suggesting changing the risk premium or more judgmental issues, but, rather, the fundamental mechanistic updatings.


And it's apparent to all that no great time would be required to do that.  There's probably no great debate about what the values are.  It's probably two hours of work as opposed to two months of work.


So that brings us back to what the basic issue, is:  What is the handbook?  First – (and the Board has found this previously, so this Panel is not breaking new ground) it's not a binding decision.  In the handbook, the Board did not rule that the rate of return on equity  should be 9 percent for all Ontario LDCs regardless of evidence that may appear in those proceedings.  And the handbook did not preclude any issue from becoming a contested issue.  


The mere fact that an issue was dealt with in the handbook did not preclude that issue from becoming a contested issue in any case.  And that is regardless of whether it's a forward year or historical year case. 


Barring something from becoming a contested issue in a case was not dealt with in the handbook at all.  In our judgement that was not intended.


As to whether ROE should be a contestable issue, it appears in the end that Toronto agrees that it can become a contested issue.  In fact, as these proceedings develop, anything that is not settled or agreed to in fact becomes a contested issue.  So as the Toronto clarified by its position in these proceedings, Toronto now appears to agree that ROE can become a contested issue.


The next issue, is:  What is the evidentiary burden that Toronto would face?  Can they rely on the handbook?  This Panel agrees that they can rely on the handbook.  It can rely on the handbook whether they use a  forward year or whether they use a historical year.  So they are not required to produce any evidence.  They can rely on the handbook.


Of course, the next question would be:  Can intervenors call evidence or could Board Staff call evidence?  Well, of course they can.  It's a contested issue.


That then comes to whether there is a shifting of the burden of proof as suggested by counsel for Toronto Hydro.  There's nothing in the handbook that would suggest that.  And it would be a radical departure from the Board's procedures.  Once something becomes a contested issue, it's just that.  The Applicant maintains the burden of proof throughout.


Then what is it?  What is the significance of a position being in the handbook?  It's a default position, and that term has been used by parties today.  So, for instance, if there was no evidence, the default position would prevail.   Or if it wasn't contested, the default position would prevail.  But if it is contested, that's a different matter.  


I want to deal in particular with return of equity.  It's true the applicant in its prayer for relief seeks a global ruling, but we're dealing with the applicant's case here and the applicant's claim that it faces unfairness.  That it would have presented its case differently if it had known with greater precision what the handbook meant and the extent to which they could rely upon it.


One thing is clear.  The handbook does say that when you use a forward test year, there's going to be greater scrutiny.  Now, it's true it doesn't go much beyond that, but this Panel thinks it's not unreasonable to conclude that when you use a forward year, that certain mechanical updating adjustments, would apply as a matter of course to certain other variables.  And the return on equity is one such example.


The applicant's case uses a forward year.  They use it to update -- they use '06 data instead of '04 data for certain expense items, because they want to claim current and larger expenses as opposed to older and lesser expenses.  It's important to recognize, as I said at the outset, that the only issue that Board Staff is putting on this issue list is whether certain mechanical aspects of the ROE formula should be updated, i.e., updated in terms of known figures that can readily be obtained.  


So in the spirit of the handbook's finding that forward test year applications would face greater scrutiny, it is not unreasonable to assume that with respect to those variables, where automatic, simple updating can be implemented, that should be accomplished as opposed to sticking with outdated '04 data when that's not necessary.


And I point out it's not clear to this Panel why that would require more than two hours' work on anyone's part.


Lastly, I want to come to the consequences of this decision which is to say, Where do we go next?  I think the decision is clear, and, if it's not, I'll clarify it.  However, the material that's been filed for us today suggests that if the Applicant doesn't have a ruling that the return on equity in their case is 9 percent, then they're going to withdraw their Application.


We will let the Applicant advise us as to their position later.  But in the event that they do decide to withdraw their application, that will mean we won't proceed tomorrow with the hearing, but we will convene tomorrow to hear submissions with respect to interim rates.  The applicant has put this Board on notice that it is over-earning.  Those interim rates could, as suggested by some of the parties, be the new rates proposed.


They also could, as suggested by Mr. Shepherd, be a larger reduction by running the numbers using a historical test year.  Or they could, as suggested by Mr. Dingwall, have a greater decrease by making the adjustments to the ROE that would fall out of using current data as opposed to outdated data and adding that result to the rates proposed by the Applicant.  


In any event, it would be the Board's intention, if the Application is withdrawn, to declare rates interim.  Certain procedural steps will need to take place in order to accomplish that.  We don't feel at this point it's necessary to make a decision with respect to that.  In the event the Applicant advises that the Application is being withdrawn as a result of this decision, the Board will convene tomorrow morning at 9:30 to hear submissions with respect to interim rates.


Unless there are any questions, that completes the Board's ruling in this matter.  Mr. Rodger, any questions?


MR. RODGER:  I wonder, sir, it might be most helpful for Toronto Hydro if we could have a brief adjournment, maybe 10 minutes, so we can caucus with our clients, and then come back.


MR. KAISER:  Take as long as you want.  Half an hour?


MR. RODGER:  That would be fine.  Thank you very much.  


--- Recess taken at 2:45 p.m.

‑‑‑ Upon resuming at 3:27 p.m.


MR. KAISER:  Please be seated.  Mr. Rodger?


MR. RODGER:  Thank you, Mr. Chair.  I've had an opportunity to consider your ruling with my client and we understand your view on the handbook and we certainly appreciate that clarification, particularly in the context of a handbook being a default position, as it were.


But we also wanted to advise that Toronto Hydro is earnest when we talked about the work that has gone into this application and how this is a new regime not only for distributors generally, but also for Toronto Hydro as we move forward into the second generation LDC rate regime.  And with that, we've decided to proceed with the application, in light of your ruling, and we're ready to proceed with our first panel tomorrow morning.


MR. KAISER:  Thank you, Mr. Rodger.  We appreciate that and the efforts that your client has made in keeping these proceedings on track.  We know that as we embark upon this exercise, there's lots of uncertainties we all face and we have to sort of work through them and see if we can come to light at the end of the tunnel.


If it will be of assistance, given that you've been here all day, we are agreeable to starting Thursday if that would be of assistance to you.  We'll be just as happy to proceed tomorrow morning.


MR. WARREN:  Mr. Chairman, while Mr. Rodger weighs in on that, he's not the only one to whom it would be of enormous assistance, because we are -- I am, and various of the other intervenors, are obligated on the Hydro One case.


MR. KAISER:  That's what I had in mind.


MR. WARREN:  It would be impossible for us to participate in both cases.


MR. KAISER:  And we wouldn't want to participate without you.  


MR. WARREN:  Thank you, sir.  So if Mr. Rodger is agreeable to it, it would certainly help us if we could start Thursday morning.  


MR. RODGER:  I hate to put water on the fire at the end of a long day, but we actually would like to proceed tomorrow morning.


MR. KAISER:  You may have your witnesses lined up and ready to go.  We will accommodate you, Mr. Warren, shuttle you back and forth as need be.  You just let us know when you want to be here and when you want to be there, and we'll accommodate you.


MR. SHEPHERD:  Mr. Chairman, we also have the same problem, of course, but we have an additional problem, and that is that we only heard who the witnesses were on the weekend and we still don't know what issues the witnesses to speak.  We only know in general terms what subject there is to cover.  So we have not had any opportunity to prepare for cross‑examination of the witnesses, because we don't know what evidence tracks to which witness.  We have asked the applicant to advise us of that and they have not done so.


MR. KAISER:  Let's see if we can clarify that now.  Can you help Mr. Shepherd out?


MR. RODGER:  Yes.  I don't have the email that went out on the weekend that Mr. Sidlofsky sent out.  I don't know whether you have a copy, Mr. Sidlofsky.  But the first panel tomorrow will be the policy panel, and that will comprise of Mr. O'Brien and Mr. Haines, so this is really a panel to provide context for the application, changes at Toronto Hydro since the amalgamation, pending issues, and so on.  So it's really an endeavour, at least for the first day, to provide detail under which this application arises.


What we can do is this afternoon -- and I suspect that could take us tomorrow, so this evening we'll send out an email to all the parties giving the specificity that hopefully my friends need.


MR. KAISER:  Mr. Millar, are you ready to go tomorrow?


MR. MILLAR:  We can be ready, if that's the Board's direction.


MR. KAISER:  Thank you, Mr. Rodger.  If you would circulate that information to your friends, and we'll reconvene at 9:30 tomorrow morning with Mr. O'Brien and his associate.


MR. RODGER:  Thank you very much, sir. 

--- Whereupon the hearing adjourned at 3:32 p.m.
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